SABRE HOLDINGS CORP Form S-3 September 05, 2002

Use these links to rapidly review the document <a href="TABLE OF CONTENTS">TABLE OF CONTENTS</a>

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 5, 2002

Registration No. 333-

# SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 FORM S-3

REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

# SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

Co-registrants are listed on the following page.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

#### Delaware

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

3150 Sabre Drive Southlake, Texas 76092 (682) 605-1000

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices) 75-2662240

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

James F. Brashear Corporate Secretary Sabre Holdings Corporation 3150 Sabre Drive Southlake, Texas 76092 (682) 605-1000

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

The Commission is requested to mail copies of all orders, notices and communications to:

Martin B. McNamara Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP 2100 McKinney Ave., Suite 1100 Dallas, Texas 75201 (214) 698-3100

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public:

From time to time after this registration statement becomes effective.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box. **o** 

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following

box. ý

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

0

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. **o** 

If delivery of the prospectus is expected to be made pursuant to Rule 434, please check the following box. o

#### CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of each class of securities to be registered	Proposed maximum aggregate offering price(1)	Amount of registration fee
Debt Securities, Preferred Stock (par value \$.01 per share), Depositary Shares, Class A		
Common Stock (par value \$.01 per share), Warrants, Stock Purchase Contracts and Stock Purchase Units(2)		
Frust Preferred Securities of SHC Capital Trust I		
Frust Preferred Securities of SHC Capital Trust II		
Frust Preferred Securities of SHC Capital Trust III		
Trust Debt Securities of Sabre Holdings Corporation to be issued to SHC Capital Trust I, SHC		
Capital Trust II and SHC Capital Trust III		
Guarantees of Trust Preferred Securities of SHC Capital Trust I, SHC Capital Trust II and		
SHC Capital Trust III by Sabre Holdings Corporation(3)(4)		
Guarantees of the Debt Securities by Sabre Inc.(4)		
Pass Through Certificates of Sabre Inc.		
Guarantees of Pass Through Certificates of Sabre Inc. by Sabre Holdings Corporation(4) Units comprising one or more classes of securities above		
Fotal	\$1,000,000,000	\$92,000

- Exclusive of accrued interest and dividends, if any, and estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(o). If any Debt Securities are issued at any original issue discount, the proposed maximum aggregate offering price shall include such greater amount as shall result in net proceeds of not more than \$1,000,000,000 to the registrant.
- Includes (i) such indeterminate number of shares of Class A common stock, preferred stock and depositary shares which may be issued upon conversion of preferred stock or debt securities or exercise of warrants or stock purchase contracts, (ii) such indeterminate principal amount of debt securities as may be issued upon conversion of or exchange for warrants, preferred stock or other debt securities to the extent such warrants, shares of preferred stock or other debt securities provide for conversion into or exchange for debt securities and (iii) stock purchase contracts that may be offered as part of units.
- (3)
  Includes the back-up undertakings of Sabre Holdings Corporation to provide certain indemnities relating to, and pay and be responsible for certain expenses, costs, liabilities and debts of, SHC Capital Trusts I, II and III and all other obligations of Sabre Holdings Corporation relating to such trusts.
- (4) Pursuant to Rule 457(n) under the Securities Act of 1933, no separate fee for the guarantees is payable.

The registrants hereby amend this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrants shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until this registration statement shall become effective on such date as

# the Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

The following direct and indirect subsidiaries of registrant may guarantee debt securities or issue trust preferred securities or pass through certificates and are co-registrants under this registration statement.

	Name of Co-Registrant	Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization	I.R.S. Employer Identification No.
Sabre Inc.		Delaware	75-2109502
SHC Capital Trust I		Delaware	46-6117937
SHC Capital Trust II		Delaware	46-6117938
SHC Capital Trust III		Delaware	46-6117940

EXPLANATORY NOTE

This registration statement consists of two separate prospectuses covering securities to be registered as follows:

- (1)

  Debt Securities, Preferred Stock, Depositary Shares, Class A Common Stock, Warrants, Stock Purchase Contracts and Stock Purchase Units of Sabre Holdings Corporation, together with related Guarantees of Debt Securities by Sabre Inc., and Trust Preferred Securities of SHC Capital Trust I, SHC Capital Trust II or SHC Capital Trust III, together with related Trust Debt Securities and Guarantees of Trust Preferred Securities of Sabre Holdings Corporation.
- (2) Pass Through Certificates of Sabre Inc. and Guarantees of Pass Through Certificates by Sabre Holdings Corporation.

# Subject to Completion, dated September 5, 2002

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and we are not soliciting offers to buy these securities in any state where the offer is not permitted.

#### **PROSPECTUS**

# **Sabre Holdings Corporation**

Debt Securities,
Preferred Stock, Depositary Shares,
Class A Common Stock, Warrants,
Stock Purchase Contracts and Stock Purchase Units
and Related Guarantees of Sabre Inc.

Trust Preferred Securities of SHC Capital Trust I, SHC Capital Trust II and SHC Capital Trust III and Related Trust Debt Securities and Guarantees of Sabre Holdings Corporation

**Units of These Securities** 

# \$1,000,000,000

We will provide specific terms of these securities in supplements to this prospectus. You should read this prospectus and any supplement carefully before you invest.

Our Class A common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "TSG."

The Securities and Exchange Commission and state securities regulators have not approved or disapproved these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

This prospectus is dated

, 2002

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Forward-Looking Statements	
Sabre	1
The Trusts	1
Securities We May Offer	3
<u>Use of Proceeds</u>	4
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges	4
Recent Accounting Pronouncements	5
Description of Debt Securities	$\epsilon$
Description of Class A Common Stock, Preferred Stock and Depositary Shares	11
Description of Warrants	16
Description of Stock Purchase Contracts and Stock Purchase Units	17
Description of Units	17
Description of Trust Preferred Securities	17
<u>Plan of Distribution</u>	28
<u>Legal Matters</u>	29
<u>Experts</u>	29
Where You Can Find More Information	30
Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference	3(

#### FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus includes "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of historical fact contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including statements regarding our competitive strengths, business strategy, future financial position, budgets, forecasted revenue or earnings growth, cost estimates, expected operating margins or cash flow, future bookings outlook and technology adoption trends and objectives of management are forward-looking statements. In addition, forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "may," "will," "could," "project," "potential," "plan," "forecasts," "expect," "should," "would," "intend," "estimate," "anticipate," "believe," "continue" or similar terminology. The expectations reflected in forward-looking statements may prove to be incorrect. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors, including but not limited to the risk factors contained in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 and:

risks associated with competition from established and emerging travel distribution channels and competitors, many of which are well funded and have major travel suppliers as significant shareholders;

risks that reductions in or elimination of supplier commissions paid to travel agents may adversely affect the ability of travel agencies that use our global distribution system to compete with Web sites owned by or affiliated with travel suppliers;

risks that our revenues are highly dependent on the travel and transportation industries and particularly on the airlines, and that a prolonged decrease in travel bookings volume could adversely impact our financial performance, operations, liquidity or capital resources and could adversely impact our ability to recover the carrying value of our intangible assets;

risks associated with our ability to make and integrate successfully business combinations and strategic alliances;

i

risks associated with travel distribution industry consolidation and increased competition for travel agency subscribers, which may result in increased expenses, reduced revenue and market position, and, if we increase our borrowings to finance such increased expenses, greater financial leverage;

risks that airlines that are divesting their ownership of global distribution systems might limit their participation in our travel marketing and distribution services;

risks that regulatory developments could limit our ability to compete;

risks that rapid technological changes and new distribution channels may render our technology obsolete or decrease the attractiveness of our services to customers;

risks that our computer and network systems may suffer failures, capacity constraints and business interruptions, which could increase our operating costs and cause us to lose customers;

risks associated with the trade barriers outside of North America that limit our ability to compete;

risks that may impede our ability to grow internationally, including risks inherent in international operations, such as risks of currency exchange rate fluctuations, local economic and political conditions, restrictive governmental actions, increased seasonal reductions in business activity, higher costs of doing business, insufficient infrastructure to support our technology, disruptions of capital and trading markets, and the laws and policies of the United States affecting trade, foreign investment and taxes; and

risks that proposed changes in generally accepted accounting principles regarding our syndicated lease financing arrangement could cause the real estate and related debt subject to such arrangement to be consolidated into our financial statements, such that we would record depreciation expense related to the real estate, which would decrease our net income.

All written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified in their entirety by factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from our expectations. We undertake no obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements.

ii

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms "we," "us" and "our" refer to Sabre Holdings Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and its predecessors and subsidiaries.

We are a world leader in the electronic and online distribution and marketing of travel and travel services through our *Sabre* computer reservations system and our Travelocity.com Inc. and GetThere, Inc. subsidiaries. In addition, we are a leading provider of software solutions to the travel and transportation industries. The *Sabre* system allows travel agencies, corporate travel departments and individual consumers to access information about and book reservations with airlines and other providers of travel and travel-related products and services.

Our principal executive offices are located at 3150 Sabre Drive, Southlake, Texas 76092, our telephone number is (682) 605-1000.

#### THE TRUSTS

We created three Delaware business trusts pursuant to three trust agreements executed by us as sponsor for each trust, appointed trustees for each trust and filed a certificate of trust for each trust with the Delaware Secretary of State. The trusts are named SHC Capital Trust I, SHC Capital Trust II and SHC Capital Trust III. The trust agreement for each trust will be amended and restated prior to the issuance and sale by such trust of its trust securities, which consist of trust preferred securities and trust common securities. The original trust agreement is, and the form of the amended and restated trust agreement will be, filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. The trust agreement for each trust states the terms and conditions for each trust to issue and sell its trust securities.

Each trust will exist solely to:

issue and sell its trust securities;

use the proceeds from the sale of its trust securities to purchase and hold a series of our trust debt securities;

maintain its status as a grantor trust for federal income tax purposes; and

engage in other activities that are necessary or incidental to these purposes.

We will purchase all of the trust common securities of each trust. The trust common securities will represent an aggregate liquidation amount equal to at least 3% of each trust's total capitalization. The trust common securities will have terms substantially identical to, and will rank equal in priority of payment with, the trust preferred securities. However, if an event of default under a trust agreement occurs, cash distributions and liquidation, redemption and other amounts payable on the trust common securities will be subordinate to the trust preferred securities in priority of payment.

We will guarantee the trust preferred securities as described later in this prospectus.

Trustees appointed by us, as holder of the trust common securities, will conduct each trust's business and affairs. Trust agreements will govern the duties and obligations of the trustees. Pursuant to each trust agreement, the number of trustees will initially be five, with three different functions. Three of the trustees, who are administrative trustees, will be persons who are our employees or officers or are otherwise affiliated with us. The fourth trustee, which is the Delaware trustee, will be an individual resident of the State of Delaware or a corporation which maintains a principal place of business in the State of Delaware. The Delaware trustee will serve the sole purpose of complying with certain Delaware laws. The fifth trustee will be a bank or trust company unaffiliated with us and will serve as property trustee under each trust agreement and as indenture trustee for purposes of the Trust

1

Indenture Act of 1939. Initially, Bank of New York (Delaware) will act as the Delaware trustee. The property trustee will also act as indenture trustee under the indenture and guarantee trustee under the trust guarantee as described later in this section. We, as the holder of all the trust common securities, will have the right to appoint, remove or replace any trustee and to increase or decrease the number of trustees, provided that the number of trustees will be at least three, two of which will be the administrative trustees and one of which will be the Delaware trustee.

The property trustee will hold title to our trust debt securities held by the trust for the benefit of the holders of the trust securities, and will have the power to exercise all rights, powers and privileges as the holder of the trust debt securities under the indenture pursuant to which the

trust debt securities will be issued. In addition, the property trustee will maintain exclusive control of a segregated non-interest bearing bank account to hold all payments made in respect of the trust debt securities for the benefit of the holders of the trust securities. The property trustee will make payments of distributions and payments on liquidation, redemption and otherwise to the holders of the trust securities out of funds from the account. The guarantee trustee will hold the guarantee by us of the trust securities for the benefit of the holders of the trust preferred securities.

We will pay all fees and expenses related to each trust and each offering of the related trust preferred securities and will pay all ongoing costs and expenses of each trust, except such trust's obligations under the related trust securities.

The rights of the holders of the trust preferred securities, including economic rights, rights to information and voting rights, are set forth in each trust's trust agreement and the Delaware Business Trust Act and the Trust Indenture Act. The principal place of business of each trust is c/o Sabre Holdings Corporation, 3150 Sabre Drive, Southlake, Texas 76092. The telephone number is (682) 605-1000.

2

#### SECURITIES WE MAY OFFER

#### **Types of Securities**

The types of securities that we may offer and sell from time to time by this prospectus are:

debt securities, which we may issue in one or more series and which may include guarantees of the debt securities by our subsidiary, Sabre Inc.;

preferred stock, which we may issue in one or more series;

depositary shares;

Class A common stock;

warrants entitling the holders to purchase Class A common stock, preferred stock, depositary shares or debt securities;

stock purchase contracts; or

In addition, from time to time by this prospectus, one or more of the trusts may offer and sell trust preferred securities, which will include our trust guarantees. The trusts will hold our trust debt securities, which may be distributed to holders of trust securities under specified circumstances.

We may also offer and sell units of the above securities, which may or may not include trust preferred securities issued by one or more of the trusts.

The aggregate initial offering price of all securities sold will not exceed \$1,000,000,000. We will determine when we sell securities, the amounts of securities we will sell and the prices and other terms on which we will sell them. We may sell securities to or through underwriters, through agents or dealers or directly to purchasers.

#### **Additional Information**

We will describe in a prospectus supplement, which we will deliver with this prospectus, the terms of particular securities which we may offer in the future. In each prospectus supplement we will include the following information:

the type and amount of securities which we propose to sell;

the initial public offering price of the securities;

the names of the underwriters, agents or dealers, if any, through or to which we will sell the securities;

the compensation, if any, of those underwriters, agents or dealers;

if applicable, information about securities exchanges or automated quotation systems on which the securities will be listed or traded;

United States federal income tax considerations applicable to the securities; and

any other material information about the offering and sale of the securities.

3

#### USE OF PROCEEDS

Except as may be stated in the applicable prospectus supplement, we intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of the securities for general corporate purposes, including the repayment of existing indebtedness, additions to working capital, capital expenditures and acquisitions.

#### RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The following table sets forth our ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the five years ended December 31, 2001 and the six months ended June 30, 2002:

nbe	nded Decen	Year E	
	1999	2000	2001
	23.58	4.47	0.97

For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings consist of the sum of income from continuing operations before income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting method, interest expense and the portion of rent expense deemed to represent interest. Fixed charges consist of interest incurred, whether expensed or capitalized, including amortization of debt issuance costs, if applicable, and the portion of rent expense deemed to represent interest. To date, we have not issued any preferred stock; therefore, the ratios of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividend requirements are the same as the ratios of earnings to fixed charges presented above. Effective on July 1, 2001, we completed the sale of our outsourcing business to Electronic Data Systems Corporation. For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, the results of operations of the outsourcing business have been reclassified and presented as income from discontinued operations, net, for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998. The ratio of earnings to fixed charges

for 1997 has not been revised for the effects of presenting the results of operations of the outsourcing business as a discontinued operation. Earnings for the year ended December 31, 2001 were inadequate to cover fixed charges by \$1.3 million.

1

#### RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, *Business Combinations* ("FAS 141"), and No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets* ("FAS 142"), effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. Under the new rules, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives will no longer be amortized, but will be subject to annual impairment tests in accordance with FAS 141 and FAS 142. Other intangible assets will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. Additional information relating to our goodwill and intangible assets, and our policies for accounting for these assets, may be found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, which is incorporated in this prospectus by reference.

We adopted FAS 141 and FAS 142 effective January 1, 2002. Upon adoption of FAS 142, we no longer amortize goodwill and certain other indefinite lived intangible assets. The following table reflects income from continuing operations and net income adjusted to exclude amortization expense, including related tax effects, recognized in the periods presented related to goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets:

	Year ended December 31,					
		2001	2000		1999	
			(in	thousands)		
Reported income (loss) from continuing operations	\$	(46,953)	\$	96,105	\$	290,483
Add back goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets amortization, net of tax		211,998		81,773		3,782
Adjusted income from continuing operations	\$	165,045	\$	177,878	\$	294,265
Reported net earnings	\$	31,227	\$	144,052	\$	331,907
Add back goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets amortization, net of tax		211,998		81,773		3,782
Adjusted net earnings	\$	243,225	\$	225,825	\$	335,689
Earnings per share						
Basic:						
Reported income (loss) from continuing operations	\$	(.35)	\$	.74	\$	2.24
Add back goodwill and indefinite lived assets amortization, net of tax		1.60		.63		.03
Adjusted income from continuing operations	\$	1.25	\$	1.37	\$	2.27
Reported net earnings	\$	.24	\$	1.11	\$	2.56
Add back goodwill and indefinite lived assets amortization, net of tax		1.60		.63		.03
			_			
Adjusted net earnings	\$	1.84	\$	1.74	\$	2.59
Diluted:						
Reported income (loss) from continuing operations	\$	(.35)	\$	.74	\$	2.22
Add back goodwill and indefinite lived assets amortization, net of tax		1.57		.63		.03

	Year ended December 31,					
Adjusted income from continuing operations	\$	1.22	\$	1.37	\$	2.25
Reported net earnings  Add back goodwill and indefinite lived assets amortization, net of tax	\$	.24 1.57	\$	1.11	\$	2.54
Adjusted net earnings	\$	1.81	\$	1.74	\$	2.57
5						

#### **DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES**

We may issue debt securities under one or more indentures entered into or to be entered into between us, our subsidiary Sabre Inc. if it guarantees the debt securities, and SunTrust Bank, as trustee, or another trustee chosen by us, qualified to act as such under the Trust Indenture Act and appointed in a supplemental indenture with respect to a particular series. The indentures are governed by the Trust Indenture Act.

The following is a summary of the indentures. It does not restate the indentures entirely. We urge you to read the indentures. We are filing the indentures as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, and you may inspect them at the office of the trustee or as described under "Incorporation of Certain Documents By Reference." References below to an "indenture" are references to the applicable indenture under which a particular series of debt securities is issued.

#### **Terms of the Debt Securities**

Our debt securities will be unsecured obligations of Sabre Holdings Corporation. We may issue them in one or more series. Authorizing resolutions or a supplemental indenture will set forth the specific terms of each series of debt securities. We will provide a prospectus supplement for each series of debt securities that will describe:

the title of the debt securities and whether the debt securities are senior, senior subordinated, or subordinated debt securities;

the aggregate principal amount of the debt securities and any limit upon the aggregate principal amount of the series of debt securities;

the date or dates on which principal of the debt securities will be payable and the amount of principal which will be payable;

the rate or rates, which may be fixed or variable, at which the debt securities will bear interest, if any, as well as the dates from which interest will accrue, the dates on which interest will be payable and the record date for the interest payable on any payment date;

the currency or currencies in which principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, will be payable;

the place or places where principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on the debt securities will be payable and where debt securities which are in registered form can be presented for registration of transfer or exchange; and the identification of any depositary or depositaries for any global debt securities;

any provisions regarding our right to redeem or purchase debt securities or the right of holders to require us to redeem or purchase debt securities;

the right, if any, of holders of the debt securities to convert them into our Class A common stock or other securities, including any provisions intended to prevent dilution of the conversion rights;

any provisions requiring or permitting us to make payments to a sinking fund to be used to redeem debt securities or a purchase fund to be used to purchase debt securities;

the percentage of the principal amount at which debt securities will be issued and, if other than the full principal amount thereof, the percentage of the principal amount of the debt securities which is payable if maturity of the debt securities is accelerated because of a default;

the terms, if any, upon which debt securities may be subordinated to our other indebtedness;

6

any additions to, modifications of or deletions from the terms of the debt securities with respect to events of default or covenants or other provisions set forth in the indenture;

any applicable material federal income tax consequences; and

any other material terms of the debt securities, which may be different than the terms set forth in this prospectus.

Each prospectus supplement will describe, as to the debt securities to which it relates, any guarantees of such debt securities by Sabre Inc., including the terms of subordination, if any, of any such guarantee.

The applicable prospectus supplement will also describe any material covenants to which a series of debt securities will be subject.

#### **Events of Default and Remedies**

Unless otherwise described in the prospectus supplement, an event of default with respect to any series of debt securities will be defined in the indenture or applicable supplemental indenture as being:

our default in payment of the principal of or premium, if any, on any of the debt securities of such series;

default for 30 days in payment of any installment of interest on any debt security of such series beyond any applicable grace period;

default by us or any guarantor subsidiary for 90 days after notice in the observance or performance of any other covenants in the indenture or applicable supplemental indenture relating to such series;

a default with respect to any of our publicly traded indebtedness in an amount in excess of \$50 million, which default results in the acceleration of that indebtedness and the indebtedness is not discharged, the default is not cured or waived or the acceleration is not rescinded within ten days of the acceleration;

bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of our company or Sabre Inc., if it is a guarantor; and

any other event of default provided for debt securities of that series.

The indenture will provide that the trustee may withhold notice to the holders of any series of debt securities of any default, except a default in payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest, if any, with respect to such series of debt securities, if the trustee considers it in the interest of the holders of such series of debt securities to do so.

The indenture will provide that if any event of default has occurred and is continuing with respect to any series of debt securities, the trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of such series of debt securities then outstanding may declare the principal of all the debt securities of such series to be due and payable immediately. However, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the debt securities of such series then outstanding by written notice to the trustee and to us may waive any event of default with respect to such series of debt securities, other than any event of default in payment of principal or interest. Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding debt securities of any series may rescind an acceleration with respect to such series and its consequences, except an acceleration due to nonpayment of principal or interest on such series, if the rescission would not conflict with any judgment or decree and if all existing events of default with respect to such series have been cured or waived.

7

The indenture will contain a provision entitling the trustee, subject to its duty to act with the required standard of care during a default under any series of debt securities, to be indemnified by the holders of debt securities of that series before exercising any right or power under the indenture at the request of the holders of the debt securities of that series.

The indenture will provide that no holder of debt securities of any series may institute proceedings, judicial or otherwise, to enforce the indenture except if the trustee fails to act for 60 days after it receives a written request to enforce the indenture by the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding debt securities of that series and an offer of reasonable indemnity. This provision will not prevent any holder of debt securities from enforcing payment of the principal of and any premium and interest on those debt securities when due. The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the debt securities of any series outstanding may direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred on it with respect to those debt securities. However, the trustee may refuse to follow any direction that it determines would be illegal or would conflict with the indenture or involve it in personal liability or which would unjustly prejudice holders of the debt securities of that series not joining the proceeding.

The indenture will provide that the trustee will, within 90 days after a default occurs that affects the outstanding debt securities of any series, give to the holders of those debt securities notice of that default, unless that default has been cured or waived. Except in the case of a default in the payment of principal of, or any premium or interest on, any debt securities or payment of any sinking fund installment, the trustee will be protected in withholding of that notice if it determines in good faith that the withholding of that notice is in the interest of the holders of the debt securities of that series.

We will be required to file with the trustee annually an officer's certificate as to the absence of material defaults under the terms of the indenture.

#### **Defeasance**

The indenture will permit us and Sabre Inc., if it is a guarantor, to terminate all our respective obligations under the indenture as they relate to any particular series of debt securities, other than the

8

obligation to pay interest, if any, on and the principal of the debt securities of such series and certain other obligations, at any time by:

depositing in trust with the trustee, under an irrevocable trust agreement, money or U.S. government obligations in an amount sufficient to pay principal of and interest, if any, on the debt securities of such series to their maturity; and

complying with other conditions, including delivery to the trustee of an opinion of counsel or a ruling received from the Internal Revenue Service to the effect that holders will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of our exercise of such right and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amount and in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case otherwise.

In addition, the indenture will permit us and Sabre Inc., if it is a guarantor, to terminate all of our respective obligations under the indenture as they relate to any particular series of debt securities, including the obligations to pay interest, if any, on and the principal of the debt securities of such series and certain other obligations, at any time by:

depositing in trust with the trustee, under an irrevocable trust agreement, money or U.S. government obligations in an amount sufficient to pay principal of and interest, if any, on the debt securities of such series to their maturity; and

complying with other conditions, including delivery to the trustee of an opinion of counsel or a ruling received from the Internal Revenue Service to the effect that holders will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of our exercise of such right and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amount and in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case otherwise, which opinion of counsel is based upon a change in the applicable federal tax law since the date of the indenture.

#### Transfer and Exchange

A holder will be able to transfer or exchange debt securities only in accordance with the indenture. The registrar may require a holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents, and to pay any taxes and fees required by law or permitted by the indenture.

# Amendment, Supplement and Waiver

Without the consent of any holder, we and the trustee may amend or supplement the indenture, the debt securities or the guarantees of debt securities to:

cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency;

create a series and establish its terms;

provide for uncertificated debt securities in addition to or in place of certificated debt securities;

make any change that does not adversely affect the legal rights of any holder; or

delete a guarantor subsidiary which, in accordance with the terms of the indenture, ceases to be liable on its guarantee of debt securities.

With the exceptions discussed below, we and the trustee may amend or supplement the indenture, the debt securities or the guarantees of a particular series with the consent of the holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the debt securities of such series then outstanding. In addition, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the debt securities of such series then outstanding may waive any existing default under, or compliance with, any provision of the indenture relating to a particular series of debt securities, other than any event of default in payment of interest or principal.

g

These consents and waivers may be obtained in connection with a tender offer or exchange offer for debt securities.

Without the consent of each holder affected, we and the trustee may not:

reduce the amount of debt securities of such series whose holders must consent to an amendment, supplement or waiver;

reduce the rate of or change the time for payment of interest;

reduce the principal of or change the fixed maturity of any debt security or alter the provisions with respect to redemptions or mandatory offers to repurchase debt securities;

make any debt security payable at a place or in money other than that stated in the debt security;

modify the ranking or priority of the debt securities or any guarantee;

release any guarantor from any of its obligations under its guarantee or the indenture except in accordance with the indenture; or

waive a continuing default in the payment of principal of or interest on the debt securities.

The right of any holder to participate in any consent required or sought pursuant to any provision of the indenture, and our obligation to obtain any such consent otherwise required from such holder, may be subject to the requirement that such holder shall have been the holder of record of debt securities with respect to which such consent is required or sought as of a date identified by the trustee in a notice furnished to holders in accordance with the indenture.

#### **Concerning the Trustee**

The trustee under the indenture will be SunTrust Bank or another trustee chosen by us, qualified to act as such under the Trust Indenture Act and appointed in a supplemental indenture with respect to a particular series. In the ordinary course of its business, SunTrust Bank and its affiliates have performed, and may in the future perform, commercial banking and related services for us and have received customary compensation therefor. For example, SunTrust Bank is the indenture trustee under our 7.35% Notes due 2011, a co-agent in Sabre Inc.'s \$300 million senior unsecured line of credit and is a lender and equity holder under Sabre Inc.'s \$310 million syndicated lease financing facility.

The trustee, upon an event of default under the indenture, must use the same degree of care as a prudent person would exercise or use in the conduct of his or her own affairs. Subject to this provision, the trustee is under no obligation to exercise any of the powers given it by the indenture at the request of any holder of debt securities unless it is offered reasonable security and indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities that it might incur. The trustee is not required to spend or risk its own money or otherwise become financially liable while performing its duties unless it reasonable believes that it will receive indemnity satisfactory to it.

The indenture contains, or will contain, limitations on the rights of the trustee, should it become a creditor of us, to obtain payment of claims in certain cases or to realize on certain property received in respect of any such claim as security or otherwise. The trustee will be permitted to engage in other transactions; however, if it acquires any conflicting interest within the meaning of the Trust Indenture Act, it must either eliminate such conflict or resign.

The trustee may resign with respect to a series of debt securities by giving a written notice to us. The holders of a majority in principal amount of an outstanding series of debt securities may remove the trustee by notifying us and the trustee. We may remove the trustee if:

the trustee acquires a "conflicting interest," as such term is defined in the Trust Indenture Act, and fails to comply with the Trust Indenture Act;

the trustee fails to comply with the eligibility requirements provided in the indenture;

the trustee is incapable of acting, is adjudged to be bankrupt or insolvent, or commences a voluntary bankruptcy proceeding; or

a receiver is appointed for the trustee, its property or its affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation or liquidation.

If the trustee resigns or is removed or if the office of the trustee is otherwise vacant, we will appoint a successor trustee in accordance with the provisions of the indenture. A resignation or removal of the trustee and appointment of a successor trustee shall become effective only upon the successor trustee's acceptance of the appointment as provided in the indenture.

# **Governing Law**

Unless we otherwise specify in the applicable prospectus supplement, the laws of the State of New York govern, or will govern, the indenture, the debt securities and the guarantees of the debt securities.

# DESCRIPTION OF CLASS A COMMON STOCK, PREFERRED STOCK AND DEPOSITARY SHARES

Our authorized capital stock is 250,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, \$.01 par value, and 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock, \$.01 par value. At September 3, 2002, 143,045,146 shares of Class A common stock and no shares of preferred stock were outstanding.

The following description of our Class A common stock and preferred stock is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to our second restated certificate of incorporation and our bylaws and to any certificate of designations that we file with the SEC if we offer preferred stock under this prospectus. We have filed copies of our second restated certificate of incorporation and our bylaws as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is part.

#### **Class A Common Stock**

The holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted on by stockholders. Holders of shares of our Class A common stock are not entitled to cumulate their votes in the election of directors.

Generally, all matters to be voted on by our stockholders must be approved by a majority, or, in the case of the election of directors, by a plurality, of the votes entitled to be cast by all of our common stockholders, subject to any voting rights granted to any of the holders of our preferred stock. Except as the law may otherwise provide, and subject to any voting rights granted to holders of our preferred stock, amendments to our certificate of incorporation generally must be approved by a majority of our common stockholders.

Holders of our common stock will share in an equal amount per share in any dividend declared by our board of directors, subject to any preferential rights of any of our outstanding preferred stock.

On our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, after payment in full of any amounts we must pay to any creditors and any holders of our preferred stock, all of our common stockholders are entitled to share ratably in any assets available for distribution to our common stockholders.

No shares of our Class A common stock are subject to redemption or have preemptive rights to purchase additional shares of our common stock.

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is The Bank of New York.

11

Our Class A common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "TSG." We will list any shares of our Class A common stock sold under this prospectus on the New York Stock Exchange.

The following provisions in our charter or bylaws may make a takeover of our company more difficult:

our charter and bylaws provide for a classified board of directors, and generally that any vacancies on the board will be filled only by the affirmative vote of a majority of our remaining directors, even if less than a quorum;

our charter and bylaws provide that our directors may be removed only for cause and only upon the affirmative vote of holders of at least 80% of the voting power of all the then outstanding shares of our stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors;

our charter and bylaws generally provide that stockholder action can be taken only at an annual or special meeting of our stockholders and may not be taken by written consent in place of a meeting;

our charter generally provides that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our board of directors, and that the business conducted at any special meeting of our stockholders is limited to the business set forth in the notice of meeting provided to stockholders;

our bylaws establish an advance notice procedure for our stockholders to make nominations of candidates for election as directors or bring other business before an annual meeting of our stockholders;

our bylaws generally provide that the business that may be conducted at an annual meeting is limited to business that has been brought before the meeting by, or at the direction of, our chairman of the board or our board of directors or by a stockholder who has given timely written notice of that stockholder's intention to bring that business before the meeting;

our charter and bylaws require that any amendment to the provisions of our bylaws or to certain provisions of our charter, including those provisions discussed above, must be approved by the holders of at least 80% of the then outstanding shares of our stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors; and

our charter and bylaws provide that our board of directors may amend our bylaws.

These provisions may delay stockholder actions with respect to business combinations and the election of new members to our board of directors. As such, the provisions could discourage open market purchases of our common stock because a stockholder who desires to participate in a business combination or elect a new director may consider them disadvantageous. Additionally, the issuance of preferred stock could delay or prevent a change of control or other corporate action.

As a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. In general, Section 203 prevents an "interested stockholder" from engaging in a "business combination" with us for three years following the date that person became an interested stockholder, unless:

before that person became an interested stockholder, our board of directors approved the transaction in which the interested stockholder became an interested stockholder or approved the business combination;

upon completion of the transaction that resulted in the interested stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of our voting stock

12

outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding stock held by persons who are both directors and officers of our corporation or by specified employee stock plans; or

on or following the date on which that person became an interested stockholder, the business combination is approved by our board of directors and authorized at a meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least  $66^2/3\%$  of our outstanding voting stock excluding shares held by the interested stockholder.

An "interested stockholder" is generally a person owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. A "business combination" includes mergers, asset sales and other transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. Although our stockholders may elect to exclude our company from the restrictions imposed by Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our charter does not currently exclude us from those restrictions.

#### **Preferred Stock**

Our board of directors may authorize the issuance of preferred stock in one or more series and may determine, with respect to any series, the designations, powers, preferences and rights of that series, and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions of that series, including:

the designation of the series;

the number of shares of the series, which number may thereafter be increased or decreased by our board of directors, but not below the number of shares of that series then outstanding;

whether dividends, if any, will be cumulative or noncumulative and the dividend rate of the series;

the conditions under which and the dates upon which dividends will be payable, and the relation which those dividends will bear to the dividends payable on any other class or classes of stock;

the redemption rights and price or prices, if any, for shares of the series;

the terms and amounts of any sinking fund provided for the purchase or redemption of shares of the series;

the amounts payable on and the preferences of shares of the series, in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of our company;

whether the shares of the series will be convertible into shares of any other class or series, or any other security, of our company or any other corporation, and, if so, the specification of that other class or series or that other security, the conversion price or prices or rate or rates, any adjustments to that price or those prices or that rate or those rates, the date or dates as of which those shares will be convertible and all other terms and conditions upon which the conversion may be made;

restrictions on the issuance of shares of the same series or of any other class or series; and

the voting rights, if any, of the holders of shares of that series.

We believe that the ability of our board of directors to issue one or more series of preferred stock will provide us with flexibility in structuring possible future financings and acquisitions and in meeting other corporate needs that might arise. Our authorized shares of preferred stock will be available for issuance without further action by our stockholders, unless that action is required by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange or automated quotation system on which our securities may be listed or traded. The New York Stock Exchange currently requires stockholder approval as a prerequisite to listing shares in several instances, including where the present or potential issuance of shares could result in an increase in the number of shares of common stock outstanding, or in the amount of voting securities outstanding, of at least 20%.

Although our board of directors has no intention at the present time of doing so, it could issue a series of preferred stock that could, depending on the terms of that series, impede the completion of a merger, tender offer or other takeover attempt. Our board of directors may decide to issue those shares based on its judgment as to the best interests of our company and our stockholders. Our board of directors, in so acting, could issue preferred stock having terms that could discourage a potential acquiror from making an unsolicited and unwanted acquisition attempt through which that acquiror may be able to change the composition of our board of directors, including a tender offer or other transaction that some, or a majority, of our stockholders might believe to be in their best interests or in which stockholders might receive a premium for their stock over the then current market price of that stock.

#### **Depositary Shares**

*General.* We may, at our option, elect to offer fractional shares of preferred stock, rather than full shares of preferred stock. If we exercise this option, we will issue to the public receipts for depositary shares, and each of these depositary shares will represent a fraction (to be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement) of a share of a particular series of preferred stock.

The shares of any series of preferred stock underlying the depositary shares will be deposited under a deposit agreement between us and a bank or trust company selected by us. The depositary will have its principal office in the United States and a combined capital and surplus of at least \$50,000,000. Subject to the terms of the deposit agreement, each owner of a depositary share will be entitled, in proportion, to the applicable fraction of a share of preferred stock underlying that depositary share, to all the rights and preferences of the preferred stock underlying that depositary share. Those rights include dividend, voting, redemption and liquidation rights.

The depositary shares will be evidenced by depositary receipts issued pursuant to the deposit agreement. Depositary receipts will be distributed to those persons purchasing the fractional shares of preferred stock underlying the depositary shares, in accordance with the terms of the offering. Copies of the forms of deposit agreement and depositary receipt will be filed as exhibits to the registration statement. The following summary of the deposit agreement, the depositary shares and the depositary receipts is not complete. You should refer to the forms of the deposit agreement and depositary receipts that will be filed with the SEC in connection with the offering of the specific depositary shares.

Pending the preparation of definitive engraved depositary receipts, the depositary may, upon our written order, issue temporary depositary receipts substantially identical to the definitive depositary receipts but not in definitive form. These temporary depositary receipts entitle their holders to all the rights of definitive depositary receipts which are to be prepared without unreasonable delay. Temporary depositary receipts will then be exchangeable for definitive depositary receipts at our expense.

*Dividends and Other Distributions.* The depositary will distribute all cash dividends or other cash distributions received with respect to the preferred stock to the record holders of depositary shares relating to the preferred stock in proportion to the number of depositary shares owned by those holders.

If there is a distribution other than in cash, the depositary will distribute property received by it to the record holders of depositary shares that are entitled to receive the distribution, unless the depositary determines that it is not feasible to make the distribution. If this occurs, the depositary may, with our approval, sell the property and distribute the net proceeds from the sale to the applicable holders.

Redemption of Depositary Shares. If a series of preferred stock represented by depositary shares is subject to redemption, the depositary shares will be redeemed from the proceeds received by the depositary resulting from the redemption, in whole or in part, of that series of preferred stock held by the depositary. The redemption price per depositary share will be equal to the applicable redemption

14

fraction of the redemption price per share payable with respect to that series of the preferred stock. Whenever we redeem shares of preferred stock that are held by the depositary, the depositary will redeem, as of the same redemption date, the number of depositary shares representing the shares of preferred stock so redeemed. If fewer than all the depositary shares are to be redeemed, the depositary shares to be redeemed will be selected by lot or pro rata as may be determined by the depositary.

Voting the Preferred Stock. Upon receipt of notice of any meeting at which the holders of the preferred stock are entitled to vote, the depositary will mail the information contained in such notice to the record holders of the depositary shares underlying the preferred stock. Each record holder of the depositary shares on the record date, which will be the same date as the record date for the preferred stock, will be entitled

to instruct the depositary as to the exercise of the voting rights pertaining to the amount of the preferred stock represented by the holder's depositary shares. The depositary will then try, as far as practicable, to vote the number of shares of preferred stock underlying those depositary shares in accordance with such instructions. We will agree to take all actions which may be deemed necessary by the depositary to enable the depositary to do so. The depositary will not vote the shares of preferred stock to the extent it does not receive specific instructions from the holders of depositary shares underlying the preferred stock.

Amendment and Termination of the Depositary Agreement. The form of depositary receipt evidencing the depositary shares and any provision of the deposit agreement may at any time be amended by agreement between us and the depositary. However, any amendment which materially and adversely alters the rights of the holders of depositary shares will not be effective unless the amendment has been approved by the holders of at least a majority of the depositary shares then outstanding. The deposit agreement may be terminated by us or by the depositary only if (a) all outstanding depositary shares have been redeemed or (b) there has been a final distribution of the underlying preferred stock in connection with our liquidation, dissolution or winding up and the preferred stock has been distributed to the holders of depositary receipts.

Charges of Depositary. We will pay all transfer and other taxes and governmental charges arising solely from the existence of the depositary arrangements. We will also pay charges of the depositary in connection with the initial deposit of the preferred stock and any redemption of the preferred stock. Holders of depositary receipts will pay other transfer and other taxes and governmental charges and those other charges, including a fee for the withdrawal of shares of preferred stock upon surrender of depositary receipts, as are expressly provided in the deposit agreement to be for their accounts.

*Miscellaneous*. The depositary will forward to holders of depositary receipts all reports and communications from us that we deliver to the depositary and that we are required to furnish to the holders of the preferred stock.

Neither we nor the depositary will be liable if either of us is prevented or delayed by law or any circumstance beyond our control in performing our respective obligations under the deposit agreement. Our obligations and those of the depositary will be limited to performance in good faith of our respective duties under the deposit agreement. Neither we nor the depositary will be obligated to prosecute or defend any legal proceeding in respect of any depositary shares or preferred stock unless satisfactory indemnity is furnished. We and the depositary may rely upon written advice of counsel or accountants, or upon information provided by persons presenting preferred stock for deposit, holders of depositary receipts or other persons believed to be competent and on documents believed to be genuine.

Resignation and Removal of Depositary. The depositary may resign at any time by delivering notice to us of its election to resign. We may remove the depositary at any time. Any resignation or removal will take effect upon the appointment of a successor depositary and its acceptance of the appointment. The successor depositary must be appointed within 60 days after delivery of the notice of resignation or removal and must be a bank or trust company having its principal office in the United States and having a combined capital and surplus of at least \$50,000,000.

15

#### DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS

We may issue warrants for the purchase of debt securities, preferred stock, depositary shares, Class A common stock, or units of two or more of these types of securities. Each series of warrants will be issued under a separate warrant agreement to be entered into between us and a bank or trust company, as warrant agent. The warrant agent will act solely as our agent in connection with the warrants and will not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any registered holders of warrants or beneficial owners of warrants.

We will distribute a prospectus supplement with regard to each issue of warrants. Each prospectus supplement will describe:

in the case of warrants to purchase debt securities, the designation, aggregate principal amount, currencies, denominations and terms of the series of debt securities purchasable upon exercise of the warrants and the price at which you may purchase the debt securities upon exercise;

in the case of warrants to purchase preferred stock or depositary shares, the designation, number of shares, stated value and terms, such as liquidation, dividend, conversion and voting rights, of the series of preferred stock or depositary shares purchasable upon exercise of the warrants and the price at which you may purchase such number of shares of preferred stock or depositary shares of such series upon such exercise;

in the case of warrants to purchase Class A common stock, the number of shares of Class A common stock purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants and the price at which you may purchase such number of shares of Class A common stock upon such exercise;

in the case of warrants to purchase units of two or more securities, the type, number, and terms of the units purchasable upon exercise of the warrants and the price at which you may purchase the units upon such exercise;

the period during which you may exercise the warrants;

any provision adjusting the securities that may be purchased on exercise of the warrants, and the exercise price of the warrants, to prevent dilution or otherwise;

the place or places where warrants can be presented for exercise or for registration of transfer or exchange; and

any other material terms of the warrants.

Warrants for the purchase of preferred stock, depositary shares and Class A common stock will be offered and exercisable for U.S. dollars only. Warrants will be issued in registered form only. The exercise price for warrants will be subject to adjustment as described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Prior to the exercise of any warrants to purchase debt securities, preferred stock, depositary shares or Class A common stock, holders of the warrants will not have any of the rights of holders of the debt securities, preferred stock, depositary shares or Class A common stock purchasable upon exercise, including:

in the case of warrants for the purchase of debt securities, the right to receive payments of principal of, any premium or interest on the debt securities purchasable upon exercise or to enforce covenants in the applicable indenture; or

in the case of warrants for the purchase of preferred stock, depositary shares or Class A common stock, the right to vote or to receive any payments of dividends on the preferred stock, depositary shares or Class A common stock purchasable upon exercise.

16

# DESCRIPTION OF STOCK PURCHASE CONTRACTS AND STOCK PURCHASE UNITS

We may issue stock purchase contracts, including contracts obligating holders to purchase from us, and obligating us to sell to the holders, a specified number of shares of Class A common stock, preferred stock or depositary shares at a future date or dates. The consideration per share may be fixed at the time stock purchase contracts are issued or may be determined by reference to a specific formula set forth in the applicable stock purchase contract. The stock purchase contracts may be issued separately, or as part of stock purchase units consisting of a stock purchase contract and debt securities, trust preferred securities or debt obligations of third parties, including U.S. treasury securities, securing the holders' obligations to purchase the Class A common stock, preferred stock or depositary shares under the stock purchase contracts. The stock purchase contracts may require us to make periodic payments to the holders of the stock purchase units or vice versa, and such payments may be unsecured or prefunded on some basis. The stock purchase contracts may require holders to secure their obligations thereunder in a specified manner.

The applicable prospectus supplement will describe the terms of any stock purchase contract or stock purchase unit. The description in the prospectus supplement will not necessarily be complete, and reference will be made to the stock purchase contract, and, if applicable, collateral or depositary arrangements, relating to such stock purchase contracts or stock purchase units. Material United States federal income tax considerations applicable to the stock purchase units and the stock purchase contracts will be discussed in the related prospectus supplement.

#### **DESCRIPTION OF UNITS**

As specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, units will consist of one or more stock purchase contracts, warrants, debt securities, debt securities guarantees, trust preferred securities, guarantees of trust preferred securities, preferred stock, depositary shares, Class A common stock, or any combination thereof. You should refer to the applicable prospectus supplement for:

all terms of the units and of the stock purchase contracts, warrants, debt securities, debt securities guarantees, trust preferred securities, guarantees of trust preferred securities, shares of preferred stock, depositary shares or Class A common stock or any combination thereof comprising the units, including whether and under what circumstances the securities comprising the units may or may not be traded separately;

a description of the terms of any unit agreement governing the units; and

a description of the provisions for the payment, settlement, transfer or exchange of the units.

#### DESCRIPTION OF TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES

#### **Description of Trust Securities**

Each trust may issue only one series of trust preferred securities having terms described in its related prospectus supplement. Each trust agreement will be qualified as an indenture under the Trust Indenture Act and will contain the terms of the trust preferred securities. The property trustee will act as indenture trustee for purposes of the Trust Indenture Act.

We will set forth the terms of the trust preferred securities, including distribution, redemption, voting and liquidation rights and other preferred, deferred or other special rights or restrictions, in the trust agreement. In addition, the Trust Indenture Act automatically makes some terms a part of the trust agreement. The terms of the trust preferred securities will correspond to the terms of the trust debt securities held by the trust and described in the related prospectus supplement.

17

The prospectus supplement relating to the trust preferred securities of a trust will include the specific terms of the series of trust preferred securities being issued, including:

the distinctive designation of the trust preferred securities;

the number of trust preferred securities issuable by the trust;

the annual distribution rate, or method of determining such rate, for trust preferred securities and the date or dates upon which such distributions will be payable and the record date or dates for the payment of such distributions, which will match the interest rate and interest payment date or dates of the trust debt securities, including any exercise of the option to extend the interest payment period;

whether distributions on trust preferred securities will be cumulative, and, in the case of trust preferred securities having such cumulative distribution rights, the date or dates or method of determining the date or dates from which distributions on trust preferred securities will be cumulative;

the amount or amounts which will be paid out of the assets of the trust to the holders of trust preferred securities upon voluntary or involuntary dissolution of the trust;

the obligation or right, if any, of the trust to purchase or redeem trust preferred securities and the price or prices at which, the period or periods within which, and the terms and conditions upon which trust preferred securities will be purchased or redeemed, in whole or in part, pursuant to such obligation or right;

the voting rights, if any, of holders of trust preferred securities in addition to those required by law, including the number of votes per trust preferred security and any requirement for approval by the holders of such trust preferred securities, or of trust preferred securities issued by other trusts, or both, as a condition to specified action or amendments to the trust agreement;

the terms for any conversion or exchange into other securities;

the terms and conditions, if any, upon which the trust debt securities owned by the trust may be distributed to holders of trust preferred securities;

if applicable, any securities exchange upon which the trust preferred securities will be listed; and

any other relevant rights, preferences, privileges, limitations or restrictions of trust preferred securities not inconsistent with the trust agreement or with applicable law.

We will guarantee distributions on trust preferred securities to the extent set forth below under "Description of the Trust Guarantee." We will describe material United States federal income tax considerations applicable to trust preferred securities in a prospectus supplement relating to the trust preferred securities.

Each trust will issue a series of trust common securities in connection with the issuance of trust preferred securities. Except for voting rights, the terms of trust common securities will be substantially identical to the terms of trust preferred securities. Trust common securities will rank equally with trust preferred securities except that, upon an event of default under the trust agreement, the rights of holders of trust common securities to payments will be subordinated to the rights of holders of trust preferred securities. The trust common securities will also carry the right to vote to appoint, remove or replace any trustee of the trust. We will own all of the trust common securities.

Enforcement of Certain Rights by Holders of Trust Preferred Securities

If an event of default as defined in the applicable trust agreement occurs and is continuing, then the holders of trust preferred securities of such trust would rely on the enforcement by the property trustee of its rights as a holder of the applicable series of trust debt securities against us. In addition,

18

so long as their directions do not conflict with any rule of law or with such trust agreement, and could not involve such property trustee in personal liability in circumstances where reasonable indemnity would not be adequate, the holders of a majority in aggregate liquidation amount of trust preferred securities of such trust may direct the property trustee as to:

the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to such property trustee;

the exercise of any trust or power conferred upon such property trustee under such trust agreement; and

the exercise of the remedies available to the property trustee as a holder of trust debt securities.

If such property trustee fails to enforce its rights under the trust debt securities held by such trust, a holder of trust preferred securities of such trust may, to the extent permitted by law, institute a legal proceeding directly against us to enforce such property trustee's rights under such trust agreement. In such case, the holder would not be required to institute a legal proceeding against the property trustee, the trust or any other person. In no event will such holder be permitted or authorized to affect, disturb or prejudice the rights of any other holder or to obtain or to seek to obtain priority or preference over any other holder or to enforce any right under such trust agreement, except in the manner described in the trust agreement and for the equal and ratable benefit of all such holders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a holder of trust preferred securities of such trust may institute a proceeding directly against us for enforcement of payment to such holder of the principal of or interest on the trust debt securities held by such trust having a principal amount equal to the aggregate stated liquidation amount of such trust preferred securities held by such holder, on or after the due dates specified or provided for in such trust debt securities. In such case, the holder would not be required to institute a legal proceeding against the property trustee, the trust or any other person. In connection with such proceeding, we will be subrogated to the rights of such holder under the trust agreement to the extent of any payment made by us to such holder.

#### **Description of Trust Guarantees**

The following is a summary of information concerning the guarantees of the trust preferred securities of each trust, which we refer to as the trust guarantees. We will execute each trust guarantee for the benefit of holders of trust preferred securities. We will qualify each trust guarantee as an indenture under the Trust Indenture Act. We will identify the indenture trustee for purposes of the Trust Indenture Act in a prospectus supplement with respect to the trust preferred securities.

The following summary does not purport to be complete and is subject in all respects to the provisions of, and is qualified by its entirety by reference to, the form of trust guarantee, which will be filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. The trust guarantee will be held by the property trustee for the benefit of holders of trust preferred securities.

#### General

To the extent set forth in the trust guarantee, we will agree to pay in full the guarantee payments, described below, without duplication of amounts theretofore paid by or on behalf of the trust, as and when due regardless of any defense, right of set off or counter-claim which we may have. With respect to trust preferred securities issued by a trust, we will pay in full the following payments or distributions as guarantee payments to the extent the trust fails to pay or make such guarantee payments:

any accrued and unpaid distributions on trust preferred securities, to the extent such trust has funds legally and immediately available therefor;

the redemption price, to the extent such trust has funds legally and immediately available therefor with respect to trust preferred securities called for redemption; and

19

upon voluntary or involuntary dissolution, winding up or termination of such trust, other than in connection with the distribution of trust debt securities to holders of trust preferred securities or the redemption of all trust preferred securities, the lesser of:

the aggregate of the liquidation amount and all accrued and unpaid distributions on such trust preferred securities to the date of payment, to the extent such trust has funds legally and immediately available therefor, and

the amount of assets of the trust remaining available for distribution to holders of trust preferred securities in liquidation of the trust.

We will determine the redemption price and liquidation amount at the time the trust preferred securities are issued. We may satisfy our obligation to make a guarantee payment by direct payment of the required amounts to the holders of such trust preferred securities or by causing the trust to pay such amounts to such holders.

Each trust guarantee will not apply to any payment or distribution except to the extent the applicable trust has funds legally available for such payment or distribution. If we do not make interest payments on the trust debt securities purchased by a trust, such trust will not pay distributions on such trust preferred securities issued by such trust and will not have funds legally available. The trust guarantee, when taken together with our obligations under the trust debt securities, the applicable indenture and the trust agreement, including our obligation to pay costs, expenses, debt, and liabilities of such trust, other than with respect to the trust securities, will be a full and unconditional guarantee, subject to any subordination provisions, by us of payments due on the trust preferred securities from the time of issuance.

Amendment of Trust Guarantee; Assignment

Except for changes which do not materially adversely affect the rights of holders of trust preferred securities, each trust guarantee may be amended only with the approval of a majority in liquidation amount of trust preferred securities issued by the applicable trust. The manner of obtaining any such approval will be as set forth in the applicable trust agreement. The trust guarantee will bind the successors, assigns, receivers, trustees and representatives of us and continue to benefit the trust guarantee trustee and holders of trust preferred securities. Except in connection with a consolidation, merger, conveyance, transfer or lease involving us, permitted under the applicable indenture, we may not assign our rights or delegate our obligations under the trust guarantee.

Termination of the Trust Guarantee

Each trust guarantee will terminate as to the trust preferred securities issued by the applicable trust:

upon full payment of the redemption price of all trust preferred securities of such trust,

upon distribution of trust debt securities held by such trust to the holders of and in exchange for trust preferred securities, or

upon full payment of amounts payable in accordance with the trust agreement upon liquidation of such trust.

The trust guarantee will continue to be effective or will be reinstated, as the case may be, if at any time any holder of trust preferred securities must repay any sums paid to them under the trust preferred securities or trust guarantee.

20

Events of Default

An event of default under a trust guarantee will occur if we fail to make the payments required by the trust guarantee.

The holders of a majority in liquidation amount of trust preferred securities relating to such trust guarantee have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to such trust guarantee trustee or to direct the exercise of any trust or power conferred upon such trust guarantee trustee under the trust guarantee. If the trust guarantee trustee fails to enforce such trust guarantee, any holder of record of trust preferred securities relating to such trust preferred guarantee may institute a legal proceeding directly against us to enforce the trust guarantee trustee's rights, without first instituting any other legal proceeding.

Status of Trust Guarantee

The trust guarantee will constitute our unsecured obligation and will rank:

in general, subordinate and junior in right of payment to all of our other liabilities, including the trust debt securities, except those made equal or subordinate by their terms,

equal with the most senior preferred stock which may now or hereafter be issued or guaranteed by us; and

senior to our Class A common stock.

The terms of the trust preferred securities will provide that each holder of trust preferred securities issued by such trust, by acceptance thereof, agrees to the subordination provisions, if any, and other terms of the related trust guarantee. Each trust guarantee will constitute a guarantee of payment and not of collection. This means that the guaranteed party may institute a legal proceeding directly against the guaranter to enforce its rights under such trust guarantee without instituting a legal proceeding against any other person or entity. Each trust guarantee will be deposited with the applicable trust guarantee trustee to be held for the benefit of the holders of such trust preferred securities. Except as otherwise noted herein, the trust guarantee trustee has the right to enforce the trust guarantee on behalf of the holders of the related trust preferred securities. Except as described under "Termination of the Trust Guarantee" above, the trust guarantee will not be discharged except by payment of the guarantee payments in full without duplication of amounts theretofore paid by the trust.

Information Concerning Trust Guarantee Trustee

The trust guarantee trustee, prior to the occurrence of a default with respect to the trust guarantee and after the curing of all such defaults that may have occurred, will undertake to perform only such duties as are specifically set forth in the trust guarantee and, during the continuance of any default, will exercise the same degree of care as a prudent individual would exercise in the conduct of such individual's own affairs. Subject to such provisions, the trust guarantee trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of the powers vested in it by the trust guarantee at the request of any holder of trust preferred securities, unless offered reasonable indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred thereby. However, in any event, the trust guarantee trustee must exercise the rights and powers vested in it by such trust guarantee upon the occurrence of an event of default under such trust guarantee. In most circumstances, the trust guarantee trustee will also serve as property trustee.

21

Governing Law

Unless we otherwise specify in the applicable prospectus supplement, the trust guarantee will be governed by the laws of the State of New York.

#### Agreement as to Expenses and Liabilities

As will be required by the trust agreement, we will enter into an agreement in which we irrevocably and unconditionally guarantee to each person or entity to whom the trust becomes indebted or liable the full payment of any indebtedness, expenses or liabilities of the trust. This separate agreement as to expenses and liabilities does not include obligations of the trust to pay to the holders of the related trust securities or other similar interests in the trust the amounts due such holders pursuant to the terms of such trust securities or such other similar interests, as the case may be.

# Additional Description of Trust Debt Securities Issued to the Trusts

Set forth below is a description of the terms of the trust debt securities which each trust will hold as trust assets. The trust debt securities may be issued from time to time in one or more series under an indenture between us and an indenture trustee chosen by us, qualified to act as such under the Trust Indenture Act and appointed in a supplemental indenture with respect to a particular series. The following description does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the applicable indenture and supplements creating and governing the trust debt securities, which will be filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. The terms of the trust debt securities will include those stated in the indenture and the related supplemental indenture and those made a part of the indenture by reference to the Trust Indenture Act.

Upon a dissolution of a trust, the property trustee, following satisfaction of liabilities to creditors of the trust in accordance with the provisions of applicable law, may distribute the trust debt securities held by such trust to the holders of trust securities in liquidation of such trust.

If the property trustee distributes any trust debt securities to holders of trust preferred securities, we will use our best efforts to have such trust debt securities traded on the same stock exchange, if any, as the related trust preferred securities are traded.

General

Trust debt securities will be issued in a principal amount equal to the aggregate stated liquidation amount of trust preferred securities, plus our investment in trust common securities.

The entire principal amount of the trust debt securities held by each trust will mature and become due and payable, together with any accrued and unpaid interest thereon, including additional interest, if any, on the date set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement.

If trust debt securities held by a trust are distributed to holders of trust preferred securities of such trust in liquidation of such holders' interests in such trust, such trust debt securities will initially be issued as a global security. Under limited circumstances, trust debt securities may be issued in certificated form in exchange for a global security. In the event trust debt securities are issued in certificated form, such trust debt securities will be in denominations as specified in the applicable prospectus supplement and integral multiples thereof and may be transferred or exchanged at the offices described therein. We will make payments on trust debt securities issued as a global security to the depositary for the trust debt securities. In the event trust debt securities are issued in certificated form, principal and interest will be payable, the transfer of the trust debt securities will be registrable and trust debt securities will be exchangeable for trust debt securities of other denominations of a like aggregate principal amount at the corporate trust office of the indenture trustee in New York, New

22

York. In such an event, however, at our option, we may pay interest by check mailed to the address of the persons entitled thereto.

Material Covenants

If there has occurred any event that would constitute an indenture event of default or we are in default with respect to our payment of any obligations under the trust guarantee, then:

we may not declare or pay any dividend on, make any distributions with respect to, or redeem, purchase or make a liquidation payment with respect to, any of our capital stock other than:

purchases or acquisitions of shares of our Class A common stock in connection with the satisfaction by us of our obligations under any employee benefit plans or any other contractual obligation of ours, other than a contractual obligation ranking junior to the trust debt securities,

as a result of a reclassification of our capital stock or the exchange or conversion of one class or series of our capital stock for another class or series of our capital stock, or

the purchase of fractional interests in shares of our capital stock pursuant to the conversion or exchange provisions of such capital stock or the security being converted or exchanged,

we may not make any payment of interest, principal or premium, if any, on or repay, repurchase or redeem any debt securities, including guarantees, issued by us which rank junior to the trust debt securities, and

we may not make any guarantee payments with respect to the foregoing, other than pursuant to the trust guarantee.

We will covenant, as long as trust preferred securities of a trust remain outstanding:

to maintain 100% ownership of trust common securities of such trust,

not to cause such trust to terminate, except in connection with a distribution of trust debt securities, and

to use our reasonable efforts to cause such trust:

to remain a statutory business trust, except in connection with the distribution of trust debt securities held by such trust to the holders of trust securities in liquidation of such trust, the redemption of all trust securities, or certain mergers, consolidations or amalgamations, each as permitted by the trust agreement, and

to otherwise continue to be classified as a grantor trust for United States federal income tax purposes.

#### Optional Redemption

We will have the right to redeem the trust debt securities, in whole or in part, from time to time, without premium or penalty, on or after the date set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement, upon not less than 30 or more than 60 days' notice, at a redemption price equal to a premium on the principal amount to be redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid interest, including additional interest, if any, to the redemption date, as specified in the applicable prospectus supplement. If a partial redemption of the trust preferred securities resulting from a partial redemption of the trust debt securities held by a trust would result in the delisting of the trust preferred securities of such trust, we may only redeem such trust debt securities held by such trust in whole. In addition, if a change in tax or securities laws occurs that adversely affects specified tax or securities characteristics of the trust, upon not less than 30 or more than 60 days notice, within 90 days after the occurrence of such event

23

and subject to the terms and conditions of the indenture, we may redeem such trust debt securities, in whole, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed plus any accrued but unpaid interest, including additional interest, if any, to the redemption date. In the event of redemption of such trust debt securities in part only, we will issue new trust debt securities for the unredeemed portion in the name or names of the holders who surrender their unredeemed trust debt securities.

#### Interest

Each trust debt security will bear interest at the rate set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement from the original date of issuance, payable on the interest payment dates which will be specified in the prospectus supplement, to the person in whose name such trust debt security is registered, subject to specified exceptions, on the record date specified in the applicable prospectus supplement.

The amount of interest payable for any period will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. In the event that any date on which interest is payable on the trust debt securities is not a business day, then we will pay the interest payable on such date on the next succeeding day which is a business day, and without any interest or other payment in respect of any such delay, with the same force and effect as if made on such date.

# Option To Extend Interest Payment Period

Except to the extent set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement, we will have the right at any time, and from time to time, to defer payments of interest on trust debt securities by extending the interest payment period for up to 20 consecutive quarters. At the end of such an extension period, we will pay all interest then accrued and unpaid, including any additional interest, together with interest thereon at the rate specified and to the extent permitted by applicable law. We will covenant in the applicable indenture for the benefit of the holders of a series of trust debt securities, that, subject to the next succeeding sentence:

we will not declare or pay any dividend on, or make any distributions with respect to, or redeem, purchase, acquire or make a liquidation payment with respect to, any of our capital stock, and

we will not make any payment of interest, principal or premium, if any, on or repay, repurchase or redeem any debt securities, including guarantees other than the trust guarantee, issued by us which rank junior to the applicable series of trust debt securities:

if at such time we will have given notice of our election to extend an interest payment period for a series of trust debt securities and such extension shall be continuing, or

if at such time an event of default with respect to a series of trust debt securities will have occurred and be continuing.

The preceding sentence, however, shall not restrict:

any of the actions described in the preceding sentence resulting from any reclassification of our capital stock or the exchange or conversion of one class or series of our capital stock for another class or series of our capital stock,

repurchases, redemptions or other acquisitions of shares of our capital stock in connection with any employment contract, benefit plan or other similar arrangement with or for the benefit of employees, officers or directors or a stock purchase and dividend reinvestment plan,

dividends or distributions in our capital stock, or

24

the purchase of fractional interests in shares of our capital stock pursuant to the conversion or exchange provisions of such capital stock or the security being converted or exchanged.

Prior to the termination of any such extension period for a series of trust debt securities, we may further defer payments of interest on such trust debt securities, by extending the interest payment period, provided that such extension period together with all such previous and further extensions thereof for such series of trust debt securities may not exceed 20 consecutive quarters or extend beyond the maturity of such series of trust debt securities.

Upon the termination of any extension period for a series of trust debt securities, and the payment of all accrued and unpaid interest on the trust debt securities then due, we may select a new extension period for such series of trust debt securities, as if no extension period had previously been declared, subject to the above requirements. We will not be required to pay interest on a series of trust debt securities during an extension period until the end thereof.

If the property trustee is the sole holder of the trust debt securities, we will give the administrative trustees and the property trustee notice of our selection of such extension period for such series of trust debt securities one business day prior to the earlier of (1) the next succeeding date on which distributions on the related trust preferred securities are payable or (2) the date a trust is required to give notice to the New York Stock Exchange or other applicable self-regulatory organization or to holders of such trust preferred securities on the record date or the date such distribution is payable, but in any event not less than one business day prior to such record date. The administrative trustees shall give notice of our selection of such extension period to the holders of such trust preferred securities. If the property trustee is not the sole holder of a series of trust debt securities, we will give the holders of such trust debt securities notice of our selection of such extension period ten business days prior to the earlier of (1) the interest payment date or (2) the date we are required to give notice to the New York Stock Exchange or other applicable self-regulatory organization or to holders of such trust debt securities, but in any event at least two business days before such record date.

We have no present intention to defer interest payments.

Additional Interest

If a trust is required to pay any taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental charges, other than withholding taxes, imposed by the United States, or any other taxing authority, we will pay as additional interest such additional amounts as shall be required so that the net amounts received and retained by a trust after paying any such charges will be equal to the amount such trust would have received had no such charge been imposed.

Events of Default Under Applicable Indenture

We will define an event of default with respect to any series of trust debt securities in the indenture or applicable supplemental indenture. An event of default may include:

our default in payment of the principal of or premium, if any, on any of the trust debt securities of such series;

default for 30 days in payment of any installment of interest, including additional interest, on any trust debt security of such series beyond a valid extension;

default by us for 60 days after notice in the observance or performance of any other covenants in the indenture or applicable supplemental indenture relating to such series; and

25

voluntary or involuntary dissolution, winding up, termination, bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of a trust, except in connection with:

the distribution of trust debt securities to holders of trust securities in liquidation of a trust,

the redemption of all outstanding trust securities of such trust, or

mergers or consolidations permitted by the trust agreement.

The holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of trust debt securities may waive any past default, except (1) a default in payment of principal, premium, interest or additional interest, unless such default has been cured and a sum sufficient to pay all installments due otherwise than by acceleration has been deposited with the trust debt security trustee, or (2) a default in a covenant or provision which under the applicable indenture may not be modified or amended without the consent of each holder of a trust debt security. The holders of trust preferred securities in certain circumstances have the right to direct the property trustee to exercise its rights as holder of trust debt securities.

Payment and Paying Agents

Payment of principal and premium, if any, on trust debt securities will be made only if the holder of trust debt securities surrenders them to the paying agent of the trust debt securities.

Principal of and any premium and interest on trust debt securities will be payable, subject to any applicable laws and regulations, at the office of such paying agent or paying agents as we may designate from time to time pursuant to the trust debt security indenture. Payment of interest on the trust debt securities on any interest payment date will be made to the person in whose name the trust debt security is registered at the close of business on the regular record date for such interest payment.

The indenture trustee will act as paying agent with respect to the trust debt securities. We may at any time designate additional paying agents or rescind the designation of any paying agent or approve a change in the office through which any paying agent acts, except that we will be required to maintain a paying agent at the place of payment.

Consolidation, Merger and Sale

The applicable indenture will provide that we will be permitted to consolidate with, or sell, lease or convey all or substantially all of our assets to, or merge with or into, or assign any of our obligations under the trust debt securities or trust guarantees to, any other entity provided that:

either we shall be the continuing entity, or the successor entity formed by or resulting from any such consolidation or merger or which shall have received the transfer of such assets or assignment shall expressly assume our obligations under the trust guarantee and the payment of the principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on all of the trust debt securities and the due and punctual performance and observance of all of the covenants and conditions contained in the applicable indenture;

immediately after giving effect to such transaction and treating any indebtedness that becomes an obligation of ours or any subsidiary as a result thereof as having been incurred by us or such subsidiary at the time of such transaction, no event of default under the applicable indenture or the trust guarantee, and no event which, after notice or the lapse of time, or both, would become such an event of default, shall have occurred and be continuing; and

26

an officer's certificate and legal opinion covering such conditions shall be delivered to the indenture trustee.

The indenture will not otherwise contain any covenant which restricts our ability to merge or consolidate with or into any other person, sell or convey all or substantially all of our assets to any person or otherwise engage in restructuring transactions.

Information Concerning Indenture Trustee for the Trust Debt Securities

The indenture trustee for the trust debt securities, prior to default and after the curing of all defaults, if any, will undertake to perform only such duties as will be specifically set forth in the applicable indenture and, after a default that has not been cured or waived, will exercise the same degree of care as a prudent individual would exercise in the conduct of his or her own affairs. Subject to such provision, the indenture trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of the powers vested in it by the indenture at the request of any holder of trust debt securities, unless offered reasonable indemnity by such holder against the costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred thereby. However, the foregoing will not relieve the indenture trustee, upon the occurrence of an indenture event of default, from exercising the rights and powers vested in it by the indenture. The indenture trustee will not be required to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur personal financial liability in the performance of its duties if the indenture trustee reasonably believes that repayment or adequate indemnity is not reasonably assured to it.

#### Miscellaneous

We will have the right at all times to assign any of our rights or obligations under the indenture to a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of ours. However, in the event of any such assignment, we will remain liable for all of such obligations under the indenture. Subject to the foregoing, the indenture will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties thereto and their respective successors and assigns. The indenture will provide that it may not otherwise be assigned by the parties thereto.

#### Effect of Obligations under Trust Debt Securities and Trust Guarantees

As long as payments are made when due on trust debt securities, the trust will have sufficient funds to be able to make all appropriate payments on trust securities. This is primarily because:

the aggregate principal amount of the trust debt securities will be equal to the sum of the aggregate stated liquidation amount of such trust securities;

the interest rate and interest and other payment dates on the trust debt securities will match the distribution rate and distribution and other payment dates for the trust securities;

we will pay for all costs and expenses of each trust; and

the trust agreement will provide that the trustees may not cause or permit the trust to, among other things, engage in any activity that is not consistent with the purposes of the trust.

We will guarantee payments of distributions and other payments due on the trust preferred securities, to the extent funds are available therefor and to the extent set forth under "Description of the Trust Guarantees." If we do not make interest payments on trust debt securities, it is expected that the trust will not have sufficient funds to pay distributions on its trust preferred securities. The trust guarantee is a full and

unconditional guarantee, but does not apply to any payment unless the trust has sufficient funds for such payment.

27

If we fail to make payments on trust debt securities when due, taking into account any extension period, the trust agreement will provide a mechanism whereby holders of trust preferred securities may direct the property trustee to enforce its rights, including proceeding directly against us. If the property trustee fails to enforce its rights, a holder of trust preferred securities may sue us directly to enforce those rights, without first instituting legal proceedings against the trust, the property trustee or any other person or entity.

If we fail to make payments under the trust guarantee, the trust guarantee provides a mechanism whereby the holders of trust preferred securities may direct the trust guarantee trustee to enforce its rights. If the trust guarantee trustee fails to enforce its rights, any holder of trust preferred securities may institute a legal proceeding against us directly to enforce those rights without first instituting legal proceedings against the trust, the trust guarantee trustee or any other person or entity.

Pursuant to an agreement as to expenses and liabilities to be entered into by us under the trust agreement, we will irrevocably and unconditionally guarantee to each person or entity to whom the trust becomes indebted or liable the full payment of any indebtedness, expenses or liabilities of the trust other than obligations of the trust to pay to the holders of the related trust securities or other similar interests in the trust the amounts due such holders pursuant to the terms of such trust securities or such other similar interests, as the case may be.

The above mechanisms and obligations, taken together, are equivalent to a full and unconditional guarantee by us of payments due on trust preferred securities to the extent of funds available to the trust.

#### PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Anv	of th	ne s	securitie	es bei	ng of	fered	bv 1	this	prosi	pectus	mav	be	sold:

through agents,

to or through underwriters,

through dealers,

directly by us to purchasers, through a specific bidding, auction or other process; or

through a combination of any such methods of sale.

The distribution of securities may be effected from time to time in one or more transactions at a fixed price, or prices which may be changed, or at market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices or at negotiated prices.

Agents designated by us from time to time may solicit offers to purchase the securities. We will name any such agent involved in the offer or sale of the securities and set forth any commissions payable by us to such agent in the prospectus supplement. Unless otherwise indicated in the prospectus supplement, any such agent will be acting on a best efforts basis for the period of its appointment. Any such agent may be deemed to be an underwriter, as that term is defined in the Securities Act, of the securities.

If an underwriters are utilized in the sale of securities, we will execute an underwriting agreement with such underwriter or underwriters at the time an agreement for such sale is reached. We will set forth in the prospectus supplement the names of the specific managing underwriter or underwriters, as well as any other underwriters, and the terms of the transactions, including compensation of the underwriters and dealers. Such compensation may be in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions. Underwriters and others participating in any offering of securities may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of such securities. We will describe any such activities in the prospectus supplement.

If a dealer is utilized in the sale of the securities, we or an underwriter will sell such securities to the dealer, as principal. The dealer may then resell such securities to the public at varying prices to be determined by such dealer at the time of resale. The prospectus supplement will set forth the name of the dealer and the terms of the transactions.

We may directly solicit offers to purchase the securities, and we may sell directly to institutional investors or others. These persons may be deemed to be underwriters within the meaning of the Securities Act with respect to any resale of the securities. The prospectus supplement will describe the terms of any such sales, including the terms of any bidding or auction process, if utilized.

Agents, underwriters and dealers may be entitled under agreements which may be entered into with us to indemnification by us against specified liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or to contribution by us to payments they may be required to make in respect of such liabilities. The prospectus supplement will describe the terms and conditions of such indemnification or contribution. Some of the agents, underwriters or dealers, or their affiliates may be customers of ours, or engage in transactions with or perform services for us and our subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business.

#### **LEGAL MATTERS**

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, Dallas, Texas, has rendered an opinion with respect to the validity of the securities being offered by this prospectus, other than with respect to trust preferred securities. We filed the opinion as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell, Wilmington, Delaware, special Delaware counsel to us and the trusts, has rendered an opinion with respect to certain matters of Delaware law, including the validity of the trust preferred securities being offered by this prospectus. We filed the opinion as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. If counsel for any underwriters passes on legal matters in connection with an offering made by this prospectus, we will name that counsel in the prospectus supplement relating to that offering.

#### **EXPERTS**

The consolidated financial statements of Sabre Holdings Corporation, appearing in Sabre Holdings Corporation's Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2001, have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, as set forth in their report thereon included therein and incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated financial statements are incorporated herein by reference in reliance upon such report given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

29

#### WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Sabre Holdings Corporation files annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. You may read and copy this information at the following location of the Commission:

Judiciary Plaza, Room 10024 450 Fifth Street, N.W Washington, D.C. 20549

You can also obtain copies of this information by mail from the Public Reference Room of the Commission, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Room 10024, Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed rates. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the Commission at (800) SEC-0330.

The Commission also maintains an internet world wide web site that contains reports, proxy statements and other information about issuers, like us, who file electronically with the Commission. The address of that site is www.sec.gov.

You can also inspect reports, proxy statements and other information about us at the offices of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005.

We, the trusts, and Sabre Inc. have filed jointly with the Commission a registration statement on Form S-3 that registers the securities we are offering. The registration statement, including the attached exhibits and schedules, contains additional relevant information about us, the trusts, Sabre Inc., and the securities offered. The rules and regulations of the Commission allow us to omit certain information included in the registration statement from this prospectus.

#### INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

The Commission allows us to "incorporate by reference" information into this prospectus. This means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with the Commission. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus, except for any information that is superseded by information that is included directly in this or another document.

This prospectus includes by reference the documents listed below that we have previously filed with the Commission and that are not included in or delivered with this document. They contain important information about our company and its financial condition.

FILING	PERIOD
Annual Report on Form 10-K	Year ended December 31, 2001
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q	Quarter ended March 31, 2002 Quarter ended June 30, 2002
Current Reports on Form 8-K	Filed March 26, 2002 Filed April 8, 2002 Filed April 22, 2002

We incorporate by reference additional documents that we may file with the Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 between the date of this prospectus and the date of the closing of each offering, including all such documents we may file with the Commission after the date of the initial registration statement and prior to the effectiveness of the registration statement. These documents include reports, such as Annual Reports on Form 10-K,

30

Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K (other than filings under Item 9), as well as proxy statements.

You can obtain any of the documents incorporated by reference in this document from us without charge, excluding any exhibits to those documents unless the exhibit is specifically incorporated by reference in this prospectus. You can obtain documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus by requesting them in writing or by telephone from us at the following address:

Corporate Secretary Sabre Holdings Corporation 3150 Sabre Ave. Southlake, Texas 76092 (682) 605-1000

We have not authorized anyone to give any information or make any representation about us that is different from, or in addition to, that contained in this prospectus or in any of the materials that we have incorporated by reference into this document. Therefore, if anyone does give you information of this sort, you should not rely on it. If you are in a jurisdiction where offers to sell, or solicitations of offers to purchase, the securities offered by this document are unlawful, or if you are a person to whom it is unlawful to direct these types of activities, then the offer presented in this document does not extend to you. The information contained in this document speaks only as of the date of this document, unless the information specifically indicates that another date applies.

# SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

Debt Securities,
Preferred Stock, Depositary Shares,
Class A Common Stock, Warrants,
Stock Purchase Contracts and Stock Purchase Units and
Related Guarantees of Sabre Inc.

Trust Preferred Securities of
SHC Capital Trust I,
SHC Capital Trust II and
SHC Capital Trust III and
Related Trust Debt Securities and
Guarantees of Sabre Holdings Corporation

**Units of These Securities** 

\$1,000,000,000

**PROSPECTUS** 

, 2002

Subject To Completion, Dated September 5, 2002

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We cannot sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

**PROSPECTUS** 

\$1,000,000,000

Sabre Inc.

# Pass Through Certificates and Related Guarantees of Sabre Holdings Corporation

This prospectus relates to the issuance of pass through certificates by one or more pass through trusts to be formed by Sabre Inc., an operating subsidiary of Sabre Holdings Corporation. We will describe the specific terms of any offering of pass through certificates in a supplement to this prospectus. You should read this prospectus and all applicable prospectus supplements carefully before you invest.

The Pass Through Certificates:

Will be issued in one or more series.

Will be payable at the times and in the amounts specified in the accompanying prospectus supplement.

Will represent interests in the relevant pass through trust only, will be paid only from the assets of that pass through trust and will not represent obligations of, or be guaranteed by, Sabre Inc.

May have one or more forms of credit or liquidity enhancement.

# **Each Pass Through Trust:**

Will own mortgage notes of one or more series issued by an owner trustee, and other property described in this prospectus and the accompanying prospectus supplement.

Will pass through payments on the mortgage notes and other property that it owns, subject to any applicable subordination provisions.

# The Mortgage Notes:

Will be issued on a non-recourse basis by one or more owner trustees pursuant to one or more leveraged leases with Sabre Inc. The amounts due from Sabre Inc. under each such lease will be sufficient to make all regularly scheduled payments required on the related mortgage notes, subject to some limited exceptions.

# **Sabre Holdings Corporation:**

Will fully and unconditionally guarantee Sabre Inc.'s payment obligations in respect of any leases relating to any mortgage notes.

The Securities and Exchange Commission and state securities regulators have not approved or disapproved these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is

, 2002.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
Forward-Looking Information	-i-
Sabre	-1-
Structure of the Trusts and the Transaction	-1-
<u>Use of Proceeds</u>	-2-
Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges	-2-
Recent Accounting Pronouncements	-3-
Description of the Pass Through Certificates	-4-
Description of the Mortgage Notes	-19-
Credit Enhancements	-23-
ERISA Considerations	-24-
Plan of Distribution	-27-

	TAGE
<u>Legal Matters</u>	-28-
Experts Experts	-28-
Where You Can Find More Information	-28-
Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference	-29-

#### FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus includes "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of historical fact contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including statements regarding our competitive strengths, business strategy, future financial position, budgets, forecasted revenue or earnings growth, cost estimates, expected operating margins or cash flow, future bookings outlook and technology adoption trends and objectives of management are forward-looking statements. In addition, forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "may," "will," "could," "project," "potential," "plan," "forecasts," "expect," "should," "would," "intend," "estimate," "anticipate," "believe," "continue" or similar terminology. The expectations reflected in forward-looking statements may prove to be incorrect. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors, including but not limited to the risk factors contained in Sabre Holdings Corporation Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 and:

risks associated with competition from established and emerging travel distribution channels and competitors, many of which are well funded and have major travel suppliers as significant shareholders;

risks that reductions in or elimination of supplier commissions paid to travel agents may adversely affect the ability of travel agencies that use our global distribution system to compete with Web sites owned by or affiliated with travel suppliers;

risks that our revenues are highly dependent on the travel and transportation industries and particularly on the airlines, and that a prolonged decrease in travel bookings volume could adversely impact our financial performance, operations, liquidity or capital resources and could adversely impact our ability to recover the carrying value of our intangible assets;

risks associated with our ability to make and integrate successfully business combinations and strategic alliances;

risks associated with travel distribution industry consolidation and increased competition for travel agency subscribers, which may result in increased expenses, reduced revenue and market

-i-

position, and, if we increase our borrowings to finance such increased expenses, greater financial leverage;

risks that airlines that are divesting their ownership of global distribution systems might limit their participation in our travel marketing and distribution services;

risks that regulatory developments could limit our ability to compete;

risks that rapid technological changes and new distribution channels may render our technology obsolete or decrease the attractiveness of our services to customers;

risks that our computer and network systems may suffer failures, capacity constraints and business interruptions, which could increase our operating costs and cause us to lose customers;

DACE

risks associated with the trade barriers outside of North America that limit our ability to compete;

risks that may impede our ability to grow internationally, including risks inherent in international operations, such as risks of currency exchange rate fluctuations, local economic and political conditions, restrictive governmental actions, increased seasonal reductions in business activity, higher costs of doing business, insufficient infrastructure to support our technology, disruptions of capital and trading markets, and the laws and policies of the United States affecting trade, foreign investment and taxes; and

risks that proposed changes in generally accepted accounting principles regarding our syndicated lease financing arrangement could cause the real estate and related debt subject to such arrangement to be consolidated into our financial statements, such that we would record depreciation expense related to the real estate, which would decrease our net income.

All written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified in their entirety by factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from our expectations. We undertake no obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements.

-ii-

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms "we," "us," and "our" refer to Sabre Holdings Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and its predecessors and subsidiaries.

#### **SABRE**

We are a world leader in the electronic and online distribution and marketing of travel and travel services through our *Sabre* computer reservations system and our Travelocity.com Inc. and GetThere, Inc. subsidiaries. In addition, we are a leading provider of software solutions to the travel and transportation industries. The *Sabre* system allows travel agencies, corporate travel departments and individual consumers to access information about and book reservations with airlines and other providers of travel and travel-related products and services.

Sabre Inc. is a direct, operating subsidiary of Sabre Holdings Corporation. Our principal executive offices are located at 3150 Sabre Drive, Southlake, Texas 76092, our telephone number is (682) 605-1000.

## STRUCTURE OF THE TRUSTS AND THE TRANSACTIONS

Sabre Inc. will issue pass through certificates to finance the debt component of leveraged leases of its office buildings and other real properties. Sabre Holdings will fully and unconditionally guarantee Sabre Inc.'s obligations under each lease. The purpose of the leverage leases would be to finance the acquisition, construction, use and potential purchase of the office and other buildings used by Sabre Inc. in our business.

In the transaction, one or more real properties leased or to be leased by Sabre Inc. would be purchased by a financial institution, referred to as the owner trustee, using the proceeds of the issuance of mortgage notes and equity investments by one or more institutional investors, referred to as owner participants. The mortgage notes would be issued by the owner trustee on a non-recourse basis under an indenture with a financial institution serving as the indenture trustee.

Simultaneously with the acquisition of the properties, such owner trustee would either immediately lease the property to Sabre Inc. or assume as lessor the then-existing lease, each of which would contain a purchase option by Sabre Inc. at the property's fair market value. Sabre Inc.'s obligations under the lease would be fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Sabre Holdings. The mortgage notes would be secured by an assignment to the indenture trustee of the owner trustee's rights as lessor under the lease, including the right to receive base rentals and other payments from Sabre Inc., a first mortgage on the property and the right to enforce the parent guaranty. The rents and other amounts payable by Sabre Inc. under the lease would be sufficient to pay in full when due all payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest with respect to the mortgage notes. The mortgage notes would not be recourse obligations of any owner participant, owner trustee, indenture trustee or pass through trustee, but would be payable solely from the base rents and other amounts payable under the lease. Accordingly, holders of the mortgage notes must rely solely on the general credit and financial condition of Sabre Inc. and Sabre Holdings for a return on their investment.

The mortgage notes would be purchased by a pass through trust formed by Sabre Inc. and a financial institution serving as pass through trustee. All of the mortgage notes that constitute the property of any one pass through trust would have an identical interest rate and payment schedule. The maturity dates of the mortgage notes acquired by a pass through trust would also be identical and would occur on or before the final expected distribution date applicable to the pass through certificates. The pass through trustee would distribute principal, premium, if any, and interest payments received by it as holder of the mortgage notes to the registered holders of the pass through certificates on specified distribution dates. All pass through certificates issued by a pass through trust to public investors would represent fractional undivided interests in such pass through trust and the property held in such pass through trust, which would consist solely of mortgage notes and proceeds from the mortgage notes.

-1-

Accordingly, purchasers of pass through certificates must rely solely on the payment of the debt obligations of the mortgage notes for a return on their investment.

#### USE OF PROCEEDS

The pass through certificates offered pursuant to any prospectus supplement will be issued in connection with separate purchase and lease transactions in order to facilitate the financing by one or more financial institutions, acting as owner trustees, with respect to the purchase of one or more real properties leased or to be leased by Sabre Inc. The proceeds from the sale of the pass through certificates offered pursuant to any prospectus supplement will be used by the Pass Through Trustee on behalf of the applicable pass through trust to purchase the mortgage notes issued by the related owner trustee or owner trustees which, in turn, will use the proceeds to purchase the properties.

#### RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The following table sets forth our ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the five years ended December 31, 2001 and the six months ended June 30, 2002:

	Year	Ended Decem	ber 31,		Months Ended June 30,	
2001	2000	1999	1998	1997	2002	
0.97	4.47	23.58	15.41	10.48	16.53	

For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings consist of the sum of income from continuing operations before income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting method, interest expense and the portion of rent expense deemed to represent interest. Fixed charges consist of interest incurred, whether expensed or capitalized, including amortization of debt issuance costs, if applicable, and the portion of rent expense deemed to represent interest. To date, we have not issued any preferred stock; therefore, the ratios of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividend requirements are the same as the ratios of earnings to fixed charges presented above. Effective on July 1, 2001, we completed the sale of our outsourcing business to Electronic Data Systems Corporation. For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, the results of operations of the outsourcing business have been reclassified and presented as income from discontinued operations, net, for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998. The ratio of earnings to fixed charges for 1997 has not been revised for the effects of presenting the results of operations of the outsourcing business as a discontinued operation. Earnings for the year ended December 31, 2001 were inadequate to cover fixed charges by \$1.3 million.

-2-

## RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business

Combinations ("FAS 141"), and No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ("FAS 142"), effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. Under the new rules, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives will no longer be amortized, but will be subject to annual impairment tests in accordance with FAS 141 and FAS 142. Other intangible assets will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. Additional information relating to our goodwill and intangible assets, and our policies for accounting for these assets, may be found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, which is incorporated in this prospectus by reference.

We adopted FAS 141 and FAS 142 effective January 1, 2002. Upon adoption of FAS 142, we no longer amortize goodwill and certain other indefinite lived intangible assets. The following table reflects income from continuing operations and net income adjusted to exclude amortization expense, including related tax effects, recognized in the periods presented related to goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets:

	Year ended December 31,					
	2001		2000		1999	
			(in	thousands)		
Reported income (loss) from continuing operations  Add back goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets amortization, net of tax	\$	(46,953) 211,998	\$	96,105 81,773	\$	290,483 3,782
Adjusted income from continuing operations	\$	165,045	\$	177,878	\$	294,265
Reported net earnings Add back goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets amortization, net of tax	\$	31,227 211,998	\$	144,052 81,773	\$	331,907 3,782
Adjusted net earnings	\$	243,225	\$	225,825	\$	335,689
Earnings per share Basic:						
Reported income (loss) from continuing operations  Add back goodwill and indefinite lived assets amortization, net of tax	\$	(.35) 1.60	\$	.74 .63	\$	2.24
Adjusted income from continuing operations	\$	1.25	\$	1.37	\$	2.27
Reported net earnings  Add back goodwill and indefinite lived assets amortization, net of tax	\$	.24 1.60	\$	1.11	\$	2.56
Adjusted net earnings	\$	1.84	\$	1.74	\$	2.59
Diluted:						
Reported income (loss) from continuing operations  Add back goodwill and indefinite lived assets amortization, net of tax	\$	(.35) 1.57	\$	.74 .63	\$	2.22
Adjusted income from continuing operations	\$	1.22	\$	1.37	\$	2.25
Reported net earnings	\$	.24	\$	1.11	\$	2.54
Add back goodwill and indefinite lived assets amortization, net of tax		1.57		.63		.03
Adjusted net earnings	\$	1.81	\$	1.74	\$	2.57

#### DESCRIPTION OF THE PASS THROUGH CERTIFICATES

The following description is a summary of the terms of the Pass Through Certificates that we expect will be common to all series. Most of the financial terms and other specific terms of any series of Pass Through Certificates will be described in a prospectus supplement to this prospectus. Since the terms of the specific Pass Through Certificates may differ from the general information provided below, you should rely on the information in the prospectus supplement instead of the information in this prospectus if the information in the prospectus supplement is different from the information below.

Because the following description is a summary, it does not describe every aspect of the Pass Through Certificates or the Pass Through Trust Agreement, and it is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to all the provisions of the Pass Through Certificates, the Pass Through Trust Agreement and the applicable Trust Supplements. We will file the form of Pass Through Trust Agreement, the Trust Supplements relating to each series of Pass Through Certificates and the forms of Indenture, Lease, Participation Agreement, intercreditor and subordination agreement, if any, and liquidity facility or other credit enhancement agreement, if any, relating to any offering of Pass Through Certificates with the SEC as exhibits to a post-effective amendment to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part or a Current Report on Form 8-K, a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or an Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Pass Through Certificates offered pursuant to this prospectus will be limited to \$1,000,000,000 aggregate public offering price or its equivalent, based on the applicable exchange rate at the time of sale in one or more foreign or composite currencies or currency units.

#### General

We expect that the Pass Through Certificates of each Pass Through Trust will be issued in fully registered form only. Each Pass Through Certificate will represent a fractional undivided interest in the separate Pass Through Trust created by the Pass Through Trust Agreement and the Trust Supplement pursuant to which such Pass Through Certificate is issued, and all payments and distributions will be made only from the Pass Through Trust Property of each Pass Through Trust. The "Pass Through Trust Property" will include:

the Mortgage Notes held in such Pass Through Trust and all monies at any time paid thereon and all monies due and to become due thereunder, subject to the effect of any cross-subordination provisions described in a prospectus supplement,

funds from time to time deposited with the Pass Through Trustee in accounts relating to such Pass Through Trust, and

if so specified in a prospectus supplement, rights under any cross-subordination arrangements, monies receivable under any liquidity facility or other credit enhancement agreement and any other rights or property described therein.

Each Pass Through Certificate will represent a pro rata share of the outstanding principal amount of the Mortgage Notes and other property held in the related Pass Through Trust. Unless otherwise specified in a prospectus supplement, each Pass Through Certificate will be issued in minimum denominations of \$1,000 or any integral multiple of \$1,000. The Pass Through Certificates do not represent indebtedness of the Pass Through Trusts, and references in this prospectus or in any prospectus supplement to interest accruing on the Pass Through Certificates are included for purposes of computation only. The Pass Through Certificates do not represent an interest in or obligation of Sabre Inc., Sabre Holdings, the Pass Through Trustee, any of the Indenture Trustees or Owner Trustees in their individual capacities, any Owner Participant, or any of their respective affiliates. Each registered holder of a Pass Through Certificate (a "Certificateholder") by its acceptance of a Pass Through Certificate agrees to look solely to the income and proceeds from the Pass Through Trust

-4

Property of the applicable Pass Through Trust as provided in the Pass Through Trust Agreement and the applicable Trust Supplement.

A Pass Through Trust may hold Mortgage Notes that are subordinated in right of payment to other Mortgage Notes. In addition, the Pass Through Trustees on behalf of one or more Pass Through Trusts may enter into an intercreditor or subordination agreement or similar arrangements establishing priorities among series of Pass Through Certificates. Also, payments in respect of the Pass Through Certificates of

one or more series, or the Mortgage Notes of one or more series, or both, may be supported by a liquidity facility or other credit enhancement arrangements. See section entitled "Credit Enhancements" below. Any such intercreditor, subordination, liquidity facility or other credit enhancement arrangements will be described in a prospectus supplement. This description assumes that the Pass Through Certificates will be issued without credit enhancements. If any credit enhancements are used, terms of the Pass Through Certificates will differ in some respects from the terms described in this prospectus. A prospectus supplement will reflect the material differences arising from any such credit enhancements.

Interest will be passed through to Certificateholders of each Pass Through Trust at the rate per annum payable on the Mortgage Notes held in such Pass Through Trust, as set forth for such Pass Through Trust on the cover page of an applicable prospectus supplement, subject to the effect of any cross-subordination provisions described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Each prospectus supplement will describe the terms of the specific series of Pass Through Certificates being offered thereby, including:

the specific designation and title of such Pass Through Certificates and the related Pass Through Trust;

the Regular Distribution Dates (as defined below) and Special Distribution Dates (as defined below) applicable to such Pass Through Certificates;

if other then U.S. dollars, the currency or currencies, including composite currencies or currency units, in which such Pass Through Certificates may be denominated or payable;

the specific form of such Pass Through Certificates, including whether or not such Pass Through Certificates are to be issued in accordance with a book-entry system or in bearer form;

a description of the Mortgage Notes to be purchased by such Pass Through Trust, including:

the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which, and the terms and conditions upon which such Mortgage Notes may or must be redeemed, purchased or defeased, in whole or in part, by Sabre Inc., the Owner Trustee or Owner Participant,

the payment priority of such Mortgage Notes in relation to any other Mortgage Notes with respect to the same Property (as defined below),

any related additional security or liquidity or other credit enhancements, and

any intercreditor or other rights or limitations between or among the holders of Mortgage Notes of different priorities issued with respect to the same Property;

a description of the real property leased by Sabre Inc. and mortgaged as security under the Mortgage Notes (the "Property");

a description of the related Participation Agreement and related Indentures, including a description of the events of default under the related Indentures, the remedies exercisable upon the occurrence of such events of default and any limitations on the exercise of such remedies with respect to such Mortgage Notes;

a description of the related Leases, including:

the names of all related Owner Trustees.

a description of the events of default under the related Leases, the remedies exercisable upon the occurrence of such events of default and any material limitations on the exercise of such remedies with respect to the applicable Mortgage Notes,

the rights, if any, of the related Owner Trustee or Owner Participant to cure failures of Sabre Inc. to pay rent under the related Lease, and

the terms of the guarantee of Sabre Holdings (the "Sabre Holdings Guarantee") of Sabre Inc.'s payment obligations under the related Leases;

the extent, if any, to which the provisions of the operative documents applicable to such Mortgage Notes may be amended by the parties thereto without the consent of the holders of, or only upon the consent of the holders of a specified percentage of aggregate principal amount of, such Mortgage Notes;

cross-default or cross-collateralization Indenture provisions, if any;

a description of any intercreditor, subordination or similar provisions among the holders of Pass Through Certificates, including any cross-subordination provisions and provisions relating to control of remedies among the holders of Pass Through Certificates issued by separate Pass Through Trusts;

any arrangements for the investment or other use of proceeds of the Pass Through Certificates prior to the purchase of Mortgage Notes;

a description of any deposit or escrow agreement, any liquidity or credit facility, surety bond, financial guarantee or other arrangement providing collateralization, credit support or liquidity enhancements for any series of Pass Through Certificates or any class of Mortgage Notes; and

a description of any other special terms pertaining to such Pass Through Certificates, including any modification of the terms set forth in this prospectus.

If any Pass Through Certificates relate to Mortgage Notes that are denominated in one or more foreign or composite currencies or currency units, any restrictions, special United States federal income tax considerations and other special information with respect to such Pass Through Certificates and such foreign or composite currency or currency units will be set forth in a prospectus supplement.

If any Pass Through Certificates relate to Mortgage Notes that are sold at a substantial discount below the principal amount of such Mortgage Notes, special United States federal income tax considerations and other special information with respect to such Pass Through Certificates will be set forth in a prospectus supplement.

The Pass Through Trust Agreement and the Indentures will not contain any financial covenants or other provisions that protect Certificateholders in the event we issue a large amount of debt or are acquired by another entity, including in a highly leveraged transaction. However, the Certificateholders of each series will have the benefit of a lien on the specific Property securing the related Mortgage Notes held in the related Pass Through Trust. See the section entitled "Description of the Mortgage Notes Security."

To the extent described in a prospectus supplement, Sabre Inc. will have the right to surrender Pass Through Certificates issued by a Pass Through Trust to the Pass Through Trustee for such Pass Through Trust. In such event, the Pass Through Trustee will transfer to Sabre Inc. an equal principal amount of Mortgage Notes relating to a particular Property designated by Sabre Inc. and will cancel the surrendered Pass Through Certificates.

-6-

## **Book-Entry Registration**

*General.* Except as otherwise described in a prospectus supplement, Pass Through Certificates will be subject to the provisions described below.

Upon issuance, each series of Pass Through Certificates will be represented by one or more fully registered global certificates. Unless otherwise provided in a prospectus supplement, each global certificate will be deposited with, or on behalf of, The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") and registered in the name of Cede & Co. ("Cede"), the nominee of DTC. No person acquiring an interest in such Pass Through Certificates (a "Certificate Owner") will be entitled to receive a certificate representing such person's interest in such Pass Through Certificates, except as set forth in the section below entitled "Definitive Certificates." Unless and until Definitive Certificates (as defined below) are issued under the limited circumstances described in this prospectus, all references in this prospectus and in any prospectus supplement to actions by Certificateholders will refer to actions taken by DTC upon instructions from DTC Participants (as defined below), and all references to distributions, notices, reports and statements to Certificateholders will refer, as the case may be, to distributions, notices, reports and statements to DTC or Cede, as the registered holder of such Pass Through Certificates, or to DTC Participants for distribution to Certificate Owners in accordance with DTC procedures.

DTC has advised us that it is a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to Section 17A of the Exchange Act. DTC was created to hold securities for its participants ("DTC Participants") and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between DTC Participants through electronic book entries, thereby eliminating the need for physical transfer of certificates. DTC Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. Indirect access to the DTC system also is available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a DTC Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants").

Under the rules, regulations and procedures creating and affecting DTC and its operations (the "Rules"), DTC is required to make book-entry transfers of Pass Through Certificates among DTC Participants on whose behalf it acts with respect to the Pass Through Certificates. Certificate Owners who are not DTC Participants but desire to purchase, sell or otherwise transfer ownership of, or other interests in, Pass Through Certificates may do so only through DTC Participants. DTC Participants and Indirect Participants with which Certificate Owners have accounts with respect to the Pass Through Certificates, however, are required to make book-entry transfers on behalf of their respective customers. In addition, under the Rules, DTC is required to receive and transmit to the DTC Participants distributions of principal of, premium, if any, and interest with respect to the Pass Through Certificates. Certificate Owners thus will receive all distributions of principal, premium, if any, and interest from the Pass Through Trustee through DTC Participants or Indirect Participants, as the case may be. Under this book-entry system, Certificate Owners may experience some delay in their receipt of payments because such payments will be forwarded by the Pass Through Trustee to Cede, as nominee for DTC, and DTC in turn will forward the payments to the appropriate DTC Participants in amounts proportionate to the amount of such DTC Participants' respective holdings of beneficial interests in the Pass Through Certificates, as shown on the records of DTC or its nominee. Distributions by DTC Participants to Indirect Participants or Certificate Owners, as the case may be, will be the responsibility of such DTC Participants.

Unless and until Definitive Certificates are issued under the limited circumstances described herein, the only "Certificateholder" under the Pass Through Trust Agreement will be Cede, as nominee of DTC. Certificate Owners, therefore, will not be recognized by the Pass Through Trustee as Certificateholders, as such term is used in the Pass Through Trust Agreement, and Certificate Owners

-7-

will be permitted to exercise the rights of Certificateholders only indirectly through DTC and DTC Participants. DTC has advised us that it will take any action permitted to be taken by Certificateholders under the Pass Through Trust Agreement only at the direction of one or more DTC Participants to whose accounts with DTC the Pass Through Certificates are credited. Additionally, DTC has advised us that in the event any action requires approval by Certificateholders of a certain percentage of beneficial interest in each Pass Through Trust, DTC will take such action only at the direction of and on behalf of DTC Participants whose holdings include undivided interests that satisfy any such percentage. DTC may take conflicting actions with respect to other undivided interests to the extent that such actions are taken on behalf of DTC Participants whose holdings include such undivided interests. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to DTC Participants and by DTC Participants to Indirect Participants and to Certificate Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Because DTC can only act on behalf of DTC Participants, who in turn act on behalf of Indirect Participants or their customers, the ability of a Certificate Owner to pledge Pass Through Certificates to persons or entities that do not participate in the DTC system, or to otherwise act with respect to such Pass Through Certificates, may be limited due to the lack of a physical certificate for such Pass Through Certificates.

None of Sabre Inc., Sabre Holdings or the Pass Through Trustee or any agent of Sabre Inc., Sabre Holdings or the Pass Through Trustee will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the Pass Through Certificates held by Cede, as nominee for DTC; for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests; or for the performance by DTC, any DTC Participant or any Indirect Participant of their respective obligations under the Rules or any other statutory, regulatory, contractual or customary procedures governing their operations.

A prospectus supplement will specify any additional book-entry registration procedures applicable to Pass Through Certificates denominated in a currency other than United States dollars.

The information contained in this prospectus concerning DTC and its book-entry system has been obtained from sources we believe to be reliable, but we have not verified such information and take no responsibility for its accuracy.

Same-Day Settlement and Payment. As long as Pass Through Certificates are registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, all payments made by Sabre Inc. to the Indenture Trustee under any Lease will be in immediately available funds. Such payments, including the final distribution of principal with respect to the Pass Through Certificates of any Pass Through Trust, will be passed through to DTC in immediately available funds.

Any Pass Through Certificates registered in the name of DTC or its nominee will trade in DTC's Same-Day Funds Settlement System until maturity, and secondary market trading activity in the Pass Through Certificates will, therefore, be required by DTC to settle in immediately available funds.

Definitive Certificates. Pass Through Certificates will be issued in certificated form ("Definitive Certificates") to Certificate Owners or their nominees, rather than to DTC or its nominee, only if:

we advise the Pass Through Trustee in writing that DTC is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as depository with respect to such Pass Through Certificates and we are unable to locate a qualified successor;

we, at our option, elect to terminate the book-entry system through DTC; or

after the occurrence of specified events of default or other events specified in the related prospectus supplement, Certificate Owners with fractional undivided interests aggregating not less than a majority in interest in such Pass Through Trust advise the Pass Through Trustee,

-8-

DTC and us through DTC Participants in writing that the continuation of a book-entry system through DTC, or a successor thereto, is no longer in the Certificate Owners' best interest.

Upon the occurrence of any such event, the Pass Through Trustee will be required to notify all affected Certificate Owners through DTC Participants of the availability of Definitive Certificates. Upon surrender by DTC of the global certificates representing the Pass Through Certificates and receipt of instructions for re-registration, the Pass Through Trustee will reissue the Pass Through Certificates as Definitive Certificates to Certificate Owners.

Distributions of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Pass Through Certificates will thereafter be made by the Pass Through Trustee, in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Pass Through Trust Agreement and the applicable Trust Supplements, directly to holders in whose names such Definitive Certificates were registered at the close of business on the applicable record date. Such distributions will be made by check mailed to the address of each such holder as it appears on the register maintained by the Pass Through Trustee. The final payment on any Pass Through Certificate, however, will be made only upon presentation and surrender of such Pass Through Certificate at the office or agency specified in the notice of final distribution to Certificateholders.

Definitive Certificates will be freely transferable and exchangeable at the office of the Pass Through Trustee upon compliance with the requirements set forth in the Pass Through Trust Agreement and the applicable Trust Supplements. Unless otherwise provided in a prospectus supplement, no service charge will be imposed for any registration of transfer or exchange, but payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge will be required.

## **Payments and Distributions**

Sabre Inc. will make scheduled rental payments under each Lease for each Property, and these scheduled rental payments will be assigned under the applicable Indenture by the related Owner Trustee to the Indenture Trustees to provide the funds necessary to make the corresponding scheduled payments of principal and interest due on the Mortgage Notes issued by such Owner Trustee. The Indenture Trustees will distribute such payments to the Pass Through Trustee for each Pass Through Trust that holds such Mortgage Notes. After the Indenture Trustees distribute such payments of principal and interest on the Mortgage Notes to the Pass Through Trustee for such Pass Through Trusts, the Indenture Trustees will, except under certain circumstances, pay the remaining balance, if any, of such scheduled rental payments to the Owner Trustee for the benefit of the related Owner Participant.

Subject to the effect of any cross-subordination provisions set forth in a prospectus supplement, payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest with respect to the Mortgage Notes held in each Pass Through Trust received by the Pass Through Trustee will be distributed by the Pass Through Trustee to Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust on the dates and in the currency specified in a prospectus supplement, except in certain cases when some or all of such Mortgage Notes are in default as described in a prospectus supplement.

Payments of principal of and interest on the Mortgage Notes held in each Pass Through Trust will be scheduled to be received by the Pass Through Trustee on the dates specified in a prospectus supplement. We refer to such scheduled payments of principal and interest as "Scheduled Payments" and we refer to the dates specified in a prospectus supplement for distribution of Scheduled Payments by the Pass Through Trustee to the Certificate holders as "Regular Distribution Dates."

Subject to the effect of any cross-subordination provisions set forth in a prospectus supplement, the Pass Through Trustee will distribute on each Regular Distribution Date to the related Certificateholders any Scheduled Payments received by the Pass Through Trustee on or before such Regular Distribution Date. If a Scheduled Payment is not received by the Pass Through Trustee on or

\_9

before a Regular Distribution Date, but is received within five days thereafter, it will on the date received be distributed to the Certificateholders. Each such distribution of a Scheduled Payment will be made by the Pass Through Trustee to the holders in whose names the Pass Through Certificates of such Pass Through Trust are registered at the close of business on the 15th day before such Regular Distribution Date, subject to the exceptions specified in a prospectus supplement. Subject to the effect of any cross-subordination provisions set forth in a prospectus supplement, each Certificateholder of a Pass Through Trust will be entitled to receive a pro rata share of any distribution in respect of Scheduled Payments of principal and interest made on the Mortgage Notes held in such Pass Through Trust.

The Pass Through Trustee will distribute the following payments ("Special Payments") on the date or dates determined as described in a prospectus supplement (each, a "Special Distribution Date"):

Payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest received by the Pass Through Trustee on account of the early redemption or purchase, if any, of any of the Mortgage Notes held in a Pass Through Trust,

payments received by the Pass Through Trustee following an Event of Default in respect of any Mortgage Notes, including payments received by the Pass Through Trustee on account of the sale of such Mortgage Notes by the Pass Through Trustee or payments received by the Pass Through Trustee with respect to the Mortgage Notes on account of the purchase of such Mortgage Notes by the related Owner Trustee or Owner Participant, and

any other payments designated as Special Payments in the applicable Trust Supplement.

The Pass Through Trustee will mail notice to the Certificateholders of record of the applicable Pass Through Trust stating any such anticipated Special Distribution Date.

If any Regular Distribution Date or Special Distribution Date is not a business day, distributions scheduled to be made on such Regular Distribution Date or Special Distribution Date may be made on the next succeeding business day without additional interest.

#### **Pool Factors**

Unless otherwise described in a prospectus supplement, the "Pool Balance" for each Pass Through Trust, as of any date, will equal:

the original aggregate face amount of the Pass Through Certificates of such Pass Through Trust, minus

the aggregate amount of all payments made in respect of the Pass Through Certificates of such Pass Through Trust other than payments made in respect of interest or premium or reimbursement of any costs and expenses in connection therewith.

The Pool Balance for each Pass Through Trust as of any Regular Distribution Date or Special Distribution Date shall be computed after giving effect to the payment of principal, if any, on the Mortgage Notes or other Pass Through Trust Property held in such Pass Through Trust and the distribution thereof to be made on that date.

Unless otherwise described in a prospectus supplement, the "Pool Factor" for each Pass Through Trust, as of any Regular Distribution Date or Special Distribution Date, will equal the quotient of:

the Pool Balance, divided by

the aggregate original face amount of the Pass Through Certificates of such Pass Through Trust.

The Pool Factor will be rounded to the seventh decimal place. The Pool Factor for each Pass Through Trust as of any Regular Distribution Date or Special Distribution Date shall be computed

-10-

after giving effect to the payment of principal, if any, on the Mortgage Notes or other Pass Through Trust Property held in such Pass Through Trust and the distribution to be made on that date. The Pool Factor for each Pass Through Trust will initially be 1.0000000; thereafter, the Pool Factor for each Pass Through Trust will decline as described above to reflect reductions in the Pool Balance of such Pass Through Trust.

The amount of a Certificateholder's pro rata share of the Pool Balance of a Pass Through Trust can be determined by multiplying the original denomination of the Certificateholder's Pass Through Certificate of such Pass Through Trust by the Pool Factor for such Trust as of the applicable Regular Distribution Date or Special Distribution Date. The Pass Through Trustee will mail the Pool Factor and the Pool Balance for each Pass Through Trust to Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust on each Regular Distribution Date and Special Distribution Date.

The Pool Factor for each Pass Through Trust will decline in proportion to the scheduled repayments of principal on the Mortgage Notes held in such Pass Through Trust, unless there has been:

an early redemption of one or more of the Mortgage Notes,

a purchase of one or more of the Mortgage Notes by the related Owner Trustee or Owner Participant after an Indenture Default (as defined below),

a default in the payment of principal in respect of one or more issues of the Mortgage Notes, or

specified actions have been taken following a default on the Mortgage Notes.

In the event of such redemption, purchase or payment default, if such payment is not made within five days of the Regular Distribution Date, the Pool Factor and the Pool Balance of each Pass Through Trust so affected will be recomputed after giving effect thereto, and the Pass Through Trustee will mail notice thereof to Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust. Each Pass Through Trust will have a separate Pool Factor.

#### Reports to Certificateholders

On each Regular Distribution Date and Special Distribution Date, the Pass Through Trustee will include with each distribution of a Scheduled Payment or Special Payment to Certificateholders of the related Pass Through Trust a statement, giving effect to such distribution to be made on such Regular Distribution Date or Special Distribution Date, setting forth the following information:

the amount of such distribution allocable to principal and the amount allocable to premium, if any, per \$1,000 in aggregate principal amount of Pass Through Certificates for such Pass Through Trust;

the amount of such distribution allocable to interest per \$1,000 in aggregate principal amount of Pass Through Certificates for such Pass Through Trust;

the Pool Balance and the Pool Factor for such Pass Through Trust; and

such additional or different information as may be described in a prospectus supplement.

As long as the Pass Through Certificates are registered in the name of Cede, as nominee for DTC, on the record date prior to each Regular Distribution Date and Special Distribution Date, the Pass Through Trustee will request from DTC a securities position listing setting forth the names of all DTC Participants reflected on DTC's books as holding interests in the Pass Through Certificates on such record date. On each Regular Distribution Date and Special Distribution Date, the applicable Pass Through Trustee will mail to each such DTC Participant the statement described above and will make available additional copies as requested by such DTC Participant for forwarding to Certificate Owners.

-11-

In addition, after the end of each calendar year, the Pass Through Trustee will prepare for each Certificateholder of each Pass Through Trust at any time during the preceding calendar year a report containing:

the sum of the amounts of all distributions allocable to principal and the amounts allocable to premium, if any, per \$1,000 in aggregate principal amount of Pass Through Certificates for such Pass Through Trust for such calendar year or the applicable portion of such calendar year in which such person was a Certificateholder;

the sum of the amounts of all distribution allocable to interest per \$1,000 in aggregate principal amount of Pass Through Certificates for such Pass Through Trust for such calendar year or the applicable portion of such calendar year in which such person was a Certificateholder; and

such other items as are readily available to the Pass Through Trustee and which a Certificateholder will reasonably request as necessary for the purpose of such Certificateholder's preparation of its federal income tax returns.

Such report and such other items will be prepared on the basis of information supplied to the Pass Through Trustee by the DTC Participants and will be delivered by the Pass Through Trustee to such DTC Participants to be available for forwarding by such DTC Participants to Certificate Owners in the manner described above.

At such time, if any, as the Pass Through Certificates are issued in the form of Definitive Certificates, the Pass Through Trustee will prepare and deliver the information described above to each Certificateholder of record of each Pass Through Trust as the name and period of record ownership of such Certificateholder appears on the records of the Pass Through Certificates.

### **Voting of Mortgage Notes**

Subject to the effect of any cross-subordination or intercreditor provisions described in a prospectus supplement and to the rights of the providers of any liquidity facility or other credit enhancement agreement, the Pass Through Trustee, as holder of the Mortgage Notes held in Pass Through Trust, has the right to vote and give consents and waivers in respect of such Mortgage Notes under the related Indenture. The Pass Through Trust Agreement and related Trust Supplement will set forth:

the circumstances in which the Pass Through Trustee may direct any action or cast any vote as the holder of the Mortgage Notes held in the applicable Pass Through Trust at its own discretion;

the circumstances in which the Pass Through Trustee will seek instructions from the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust: and

if applicable, the percentage of Certificateholders required to direct the Pass Through Trustee to take any such action.

If specified in a prospectus supplement, the right of a Pass Through Trustee to vote and give consents and waivers with respect to the Mortgage Notes held in the related Pass Through Trust may, in the circumstances set forth in an intercreditor, subordination or similar agreement to be executed by such Pass Through Trustee, be exercisable by another person specified in such prospectus supplement.

#### **Events of Default and Material Rights upon an Event of Default**

The Pass Through Trust Agreement will define an "Event of Default" for any Pass Through Trust as the occurrence and continuance of an event of default under one or more of the related Indentures. What constitutes an "Event of Default" for any particular Pass Through Trust, however, may be varied

-12-

by a Trust Supplement and described in a prospectus supplement. In addition, a prospectus supplement may specify the events of default under the related Indentures (an "Indenture Event of Default"). The Indenture Events of Default will include specified events of default under the related Leases (a "Lease Event of Default"). With respect to any Mortgage Notes that are supported by a liquidity facility or other credit enhancement arrangement, the Indenture Events of Default may include events of default under such liquidity facility or arrangement.

As will be described in a prospectus supplement, Mortgage Notes issued under the same Indenture may relate only to a single specific Property and there may be no cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions in such Indenture. As a result, events resulting in an Indenture Event of Default under any particular Indenture may not necessarily result in an Indenture Event of Default under any other Indenture. However, since the Mortgage Notes issued under any single Indenture may be held in more than one Pass Through Trust, a continuing Indenture Event of Default under such single Indenture could result in an Event of Default in respect of each such Pass Through Trust. If an Indenture Event of Default occurs in fewer than all of the Indentures related to a Pass Through Trust, notwithstanding the treatment of Mortgage Notes issued under those Indentures under which an Indenture Event of Default has occurred, payments of principal and interest on the Mortgage Notes issued pursuant to the Indentures with respect to which an Indenture Event of Default has not occurred will continue to be made as originally scheduled and distributed to Certificateholders, subject to the terms of any intercreditor, subordination or similar arrangements applicable to such Pass Through Trust.

The ability of the applicable Owner Trustee or Owner Participant under an Indenture to cure Indenture Events of Default, including an Indenture Event of Default that results from the occurrence of a Lease Event of Default under the related Lease, will be described in a prospectus supplement. Unless otherwise provided in a prospectus supplement, in a case of any Pass Through Certificates or Mortgage Notes entitled to the benefits of a liquidity facility or other credit enhancement arrangement, a drawing or other payment under any such liquidity facility or arrangement for the purpose of making a payment of principal or interest as a result of the failure by Sabre Inc. to have made a corresponding payment will not cure an Indenture Event of Default related to such failure by Sabre Inc.

The ability of the holders of the Pass Through Certificates issued with respect to any one Pass Through Trust to cause the Indenture Trustee with respect to any Mortgage Notes held in such Pass Through Trust to accelerate the payment of such Mortgage Notes under an Indenture or to direct the exercise of remedies by the Indenture Trustee under that Indenture will depend, in part, upon the proportion of the aggregate principal amount of the Mortgage Notes outstanding under the Indenture and held in such Pass Through Trust to the aggregate principal amount of all

Mortgage Notes outstanding under the Indenture. In addition, if cross-subordination provisions are applicable to any series of Pass Through Certificates, then the ability of the Certificateholders of any one Pass Through Trust holding Mortgage Notes issued under an Indenture to cause the Indenture Trustee to accelerate such Mortgage Notes or to direct the exercise of remedies by the Indenture Trustee under such Indenture will depend, in part, upon the relative ranking of the Mortgage Notes held in such Pass Through Trust.

Each Pass Through Trust may hold Mortgage Notes with different terms than the Mortgage Notes held in the other Pass Through Trusts. Therefore, the Certificateholders of each Pass Through Trust may have divergent or conflicting interests from Certificateholders of other Pass Through Trusts holding Mortgage Notes issued under the same Indenture. In addition, as long as the same institution acts as Pass Through Trustee of each Pass Through Trust, in the absence of instructions from the Certificateholders of any such Pass Through Trust, the Pass Through Trustee for such Pass Through Trust could for the same reason be faced with a potential conflict of interest upon an Indenture Event of Default. In such event, the Pass Through Trustee would likely resign as Pass Through Trustee of one or all such Pass Through Trusts, and a successor trustee or successor trustees would be appointed in accordance with the terms of the Pass Through Trust Agreement.

-13-

A prospectus supplement for a series of Pass Through Certificates will specify whether and under what circumstances the Pass Through Trustee may or will sell for cash to any person all or part of the Mortgage Notes held in the related Pass Through Trust. The right to make any such sale may be exercisable by a person other than the Pass Through Trustee in the event that the applicable series of Pass Through Certificates are subject to any intercreditor, subordination or similar arrangements, and the proceeds or any such sale will be distributed as contemplated by such arrangements. Any proceeds received by the Pass Through Trustee upon any such sale that are distributable to the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust will be deposited in an account established by the Pass Through Trustee for the benefit of the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust and will be distributed to the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust on a Special Distribution Date. The market for Mortgage Notes in default may be very limited and there can be no assurance that they could be sold for a reasonable price. Furthermore, as long as the same institution acts as Pass Through Trustee of multiple Pass Through Trusts, it may be faced with a conflict in deciding from which Pass Through Trust to sell Mortgage Notes to available buyers. If the Pass Through Trustee sells any Mortgage Notes with respect to which an Indenture Event of Default exists for less than their outstanding principal amount, the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust will receive a smaller amount of principal distributions than anticipated and will not have any claim for the shortfall against Sabre Inc., Sabre Holdings, the Pass Through Trustee or any other person, including the related Owner Trustee or Owner Participant. Furthermore, neither the Pass Through Trustee nor the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust could take any action with respect to any remaining Mortgage Notes held in such Pass Through Trust so long as no related Indent

Any amount, other than Scheduled Payments received on a Regular Distribution Date or within five days thereafter, distributed to the Pass Through Trustee of any Pass Through Trust by the Indenture Trustee(s) under any Indenture on account of the Mortgage Notes held in such Pass Through Trust following an Indenture Event of Default under such Indenture will be deposited in the special payments account for such Pass Through Trust and will be distributed to the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust on a Special Distribution Date. In addition, if an Indenture provides that the applicable Owner Trustee or Owner Participant may, under circumstances specified therein, redeem or purchase some or all of the outstanding Mortgage Notes issued under such Indenture, the price paid by such Owner Trustee or Owner Participant to the Pass Through Trustee of any Pass Through Trust for any of the Mortgage Notes issued under such Indenture and held in such Pass Through Trust will be deposited in the special payments account for such Pass Through Trust and will be distributed to the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust on a Special Distribution Date.

Any funds held by the Pass Through Trustee in the special payments account for such Pass Through Trust will, to the extent practicable, be invested and reinvested by the Pass Through Trustee in Permitted Investments pending the distribution of such funds on a Special Distribution Date. "Permitted Investments" will be described in a prospectus supplement.

The Pass Through Trust Agreement will provide that the Pass Through Trustee of each Pass Through Trust will, within 90 days after the occurrence of a default (as defined below) in respect of such Pass Through Trust, give to the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust notice, transmitted by mail, of all uncured or unwaived defaults with respect to such Pass Through Trust known to the Pass Through Trustee; provided that, except in the case of default in the payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any of the Mortgage Notes held in such Pass Through Trust, the Pass Through Trustee will be protected in withholding such notice if it in good faith determines that the withholding of such notice is in the interests of such Certificateholders. Except as otherwise described in a prospectus supplement, the term "default," for the purpose of the provision described in this paragraph only, means the occurrence of any Event of Default with respect to a Pass Through Trust, as specified above, except that in determining whether any such Event of Default has occurred, any grace period or notice in connection therewith will be disregarded.

The Pass Through Trust Agreement will contain a provision entitling the Pass Through Trustee of each Pass Through Trust, subject to the duty of the Pass Through Trustee during a default to act with the required standard of care, to be offered reasonable security or indemnity by the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust before proceeding to exercise any right or power under the Pass Through Trust Agreement at the request of such Certificateholders.

A prospectus supplement will specify the percentage of Certificateholders entitled to waive, or to instruct the Pass Through Trustee to waive, any past default or Event of Default with respect to such Pass Through Trust and its consequences. A prospectus supplement will also specify the percentage of Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust, or of any other Pass Through Trust holding Mortgage Notes issued under related Indentures, entitled to waive, or to instruct the Pass Through Trustee or the Indenture Trustee to waive, any past Indenture Event of Default under any related Indenture and thereby annul any direction given with respect thereto.

#### **Modifications of the Pass Through Trust Agreement**

The Pass Through Trust Agreement will contain provisions permitting Sabre Inc. and the Pass Through Trustee to enter into a supplement to the Pass Through Trust Agreement or, if applicable, to any Participation Agreement or to any intercreditor, subordination or like agreement or to any liquidity facility or other credit enhancement agreement, without the consent of the holders of any of the Pass Through Certificates, to, among other things:

provide for the formation of a Pass Through Trust and the issuance of a series of Pass Through Certificates, or to add, or to change or eliminate, any provision affecting Pass Through Certificates not yet issued, including to make appropriate provisions for a Sabre Holdings Guarantee;

evidence the succession of another entity to Sabre Inc. and the assumption by such entity of Sabre Inc.'s obligations under the Pass Through Trust Agreement and any Trust Supplement, any Participation Agreement and any intercreditor, subordination or like agreement or any liquidity facility or other credit enhancement agreement or, if applicable, to evidence the succession of another entity to Sabre Holdings and the assumption by such entity of Sabre Holdings' obligations under any Sabre Holdings Guarantee;

add to the covenants of Sabre Inc. or Sabre Holdings for the benefit of the holders of a series of Pass Through Certificates or surrender any right or power conferred upon Sabre Inc. or Sabre Holdings in the Pass Through Trust Agreement, any Participation Agreement or any intercreditor, subordination or like agreement or any liquidity facility or other credit enhancement agreement or Sabre Holdings Guarantee;

cure any ambiguity or correct any mistake or inconsistency contained in the Pass Through Certificates of any series, the Pass Through Trust Agreement, any Trust Supplement, any Participation Agreement or any intercreditor, subordination or like agreement or any liquidity facility or other credit enhancement agreement or any Sabre Holdings Guarantee;

make or modify any other provisions with respect to matters or questions arising under the Pass Through Certificates of any series, the Pass Through Trust Agreement, any Trust Supplement, any Participation Agreement or any intercreditor, subordination or like agreement or any liquidity facility or other credit enhancement agreement or any Sabre Holdings Guarantee as we may deem necessary or desirable and that will not materially adversely affect the interests of the holders of the series of Pass Through Certificates issued under such Trust Supplement;

comply with any requirement of the SEC, any applicable law, rules or regulations of any exchange or quotation system on which any Pass Through Certificates may be listed or of any regulatory body;

-15-

modify, eliminate or add to the provisions of the Pass Through Trust Agreement or any intercreditor, subordination or like agreement or any liquidity facility or other credit enhancement agreement or any Sabre Holdings Guarantee to the extent

necessary to continue or obtain the qualification of the Pass Through Trust Agreement, including any supplemental agreement, or any such agreement or facility or other agreement or any Sabre Holdings Guarantee under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the "Trust Indenture Act"), and add to the Pass Through Trust Agreement or any intercreditor, subordination or like agreement or any liquidity facility or other credit enhancement agreement such other provisions as may be expressly permitted by the Trust Indenture Act;

provide for a successor Pass Through Trustee for some or all of the Pass Through Trusts or add to or change any provision of the Pass Through Trust Agreement or any intercreditor, subordination or like agreement or any liquidity facility or other credit enhancement agreement or any Sabre Holdings Guarantee as necessary to facilitate the administration of the Pass Through Trusts thereunder by more than one Pass Through Trustee or to provide multiple liquidity facilities or other credit enhancements for any Pass Through Trust or Pass Through Trusts;

provide certain information to the Pass Through Trustee as required in the Pass Through Trust Agreement;

add to or change the Pass Through Certificates of any series, the Pass Through Trust Agreement and any Trust Supplement to facilitate the issuance of any Pass Through Certificates of such series in bearer form or to facilitate or provide for the issuance of any Pass Through Certificates of such series in global form in addition to or in place of Pass Through Certificates of such series in certificated form;

provide for the delivery of Pass Through Certificates or any supplement to the Pass Through Trust Agreement in or by means of any computerized, electronic or other medium;

correct or supplement the description of any property of any Pass Through Trust; and

make any other amendments or modifications to the Pass Through Trust Agreement, provided such amendments or modifications will only apply to Pass Through Certificates of one or more series to be issued thereafter;

provided, however, that, unless we tell you otherwise in a prospectus supplement or there shall have been obtained from certain rating agencies written confirmation that such supplement would not result in a reduction of the then current rating for Pass Through Certificates of the relevant Pass Through Trust or a withdrawal or suspension of the rating of any series of Pass Through Certificates, we will provide the Pass Through Trustee of the relevant Pass Through Trust with an opinion of counsel to the effect that such supplement will not cause such Pass Through Trust to be treated as other than a grantor trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes unless an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, in which case such opinion shall be to the effect that such supplement will not cause such Pass Through Trust to become an association taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The Pass Through Trust Agreement will also contain provisions permitting Sabre Inc. and the Pass Through Trustee of each Pass Through Trust, with the consent of the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust evidencing fractional undivided interests aggregating not less than a majority in interest of such Pass Through Trust and with the consent of the Owner Trustee, to execute supplemental agreements adding any provisions to or changing or eliminating any of the provisions of the Pass Through Trust Agreement or modifying the rights of such Certificateholders, except that no such

-16-

supplemental agreement may, without the consent of the holder of each such Pass Through Certificate so affected:

reduce in any manner the amount of, or delay the timing of, any receipt by the Pass Through Trustee of payments on the Mortgage Notes held in such Pass Through Trust, or distributions in respect of any Pass Through Certificate of such Pass Through Trust, or change any date or place of payment or change the currency in which such Pass Through Certificate is payable, other than that provided for in such Pass Through Certificate, or impair the right of any Certificateholder of such Pass Through Trust to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment when due;

permit the disposition of any Mortgage Note held in such Pass Through Trust, except as provided in the Pass Through Trust Agreement or the applicable Trust Supplement or in any intercreditor, subordination or like agreement or any liquidity facility or other credit enhancement agreement;

alter the priority of distributions specified in the relevant intercreditor or subordination agreement, if any, in a manner materially adverse to the holders of Pass Through Certificates of such series; or

reduce the percentage of the aggregate fractional undivided interests of the Pass Through Trust provided for in the Pass Through Trust Agreement or the applicable Trust Supplement whose holders are required to consent with respect to any such supplemental agreement or for any waiver provided for in the Pass Through Trust Agreement or such Trust Supplement.

## **Modification of Indenture and Related Agreements**

A prospectus supplement will specify the Pass Through Trustee's obligations in the event that the Pass Through Trustee, as the holder of any Mortgage Notes held in a Pass Through Trust, receives a request for its consent to any amendment or modification of or waiver under the Indenture or other documents relating to such Mortgage Notes, including any Lease.

#### **Termination of the Trusts**

The obligations of Sabre Inc. and the Pass Through Trustee with respect to a Pass Through Trust will terminate upon the distribution to Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust of all amounts required to be distributed to them pursuant to the Pass Through Trust Agreement and the applicable Trust Supplement and the disposition of all property held in such Pass Through Trust. The Pass Through Trustee will mail to each Certificateholder of record of such Pass Through Trust notice of the termination of such Pass Through Trust, the amount of the proposed final payment and the proposed date for the distribution of such final payment for such Pass Through Trust. The final distribution to any Certificateholder of such Pass Through Trust will be made only upon surrender of such Certificateholder's Pass Through Certificates at the office or agency of the Pass Through Trustee specified in such notice of termination.

## **Delayed Purchase of Mortgage Notes**

In the event that, on the issuance date of any Pass Through Certificates, all of the proceeds from the sale of such Pass Through Certificates are not used to purchase the Mortgage Notes contemplated to be held in the related Pass Through Trust, such Mortgage Notes may be purchased by the Pass Through Trustee at any time on or prior to the date specified in a prospectus supplement. In such event, the proceeds from the sale of such Pass Through Certificates not used to purchase Mortgage Notes will be held under an arrangement described in a prospectus supplement. Such an arrangement may include, without limitation:

the investment of such proceeds by the Pass Through Trustee in specified permitted investments;

-17-

the deposit of such proceeds in a deposit or escrow account held by a separate depositary or escrow agent;

the purchase by the Pass Through Trustee of debt instruments issued on an interim basis by Sabre Inc. or Sabre Holdings or an affiliated entity; or

the purchase of Mortgage Notes issued prior to the purchase of the Property.

Any such debt instrument may be secured by a collateral account or other security or Property described in a prospectus supplement. The arrangements with respect to the payment of interest on funds so held will be described in a prospectus supplement. If any such proceeds are not subsequently utilized to purchase Mortgage Notes as described in a prospectus supplement, such proceeds will be returned to the holders of such Pass Through Certificates.

## Merger, Consolidation and Transfer of Assets

Sabre Inc. will be prohibited from consolidating with or merging into any other entity or transferring substantially all of its assets as an entirety to any other entity unless, in the case of a merger or consolidation where Sabre Inc. is not the surviving entity or in the case of the transfer of substantially all of Sabre Inc.'s assets, the successor or transferee entity shall be organized and existing under the laws of the United States or any State or the District of Columbia and shall expressly assume all of the obligations of Sabre Inc. pursuant to the Pass Through Trust Agreement.

## The Pass Through Trustee

The Pass Through Trustee for each series of Pass Through Certificates will be identified in a prospectus supplement. With certain exceptions, the Pass Through Trustee will make no representations as to the validity or sufficiency of the Pass Through Trust Agreement, the Trust Supplements, the Pass Through Certificates, the Mortgage Notes, the Indentures, the Leases or other related documents. The Pass Through Trustee will not be liable with respect to any series of Pass Through Certificates for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the direction of the holders of a majority in face amount of outstanding Pass Through Certificates of such series issued under the Pass Through Trust Agreement. Subject to such provisions, such Pass Through Trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the Pass Through Trust Agreement at the request of any holders of Pass Through Certificates unless they have offered to the Pass Through Trustee reasonable security or indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred by the Pass Through Trustee in exercising such rights or powers. The Pass Through Trust Agreement provides that the Pass Through Trustee in its individual or any other capacity may acquire and hold Pass Through Certificates and, subject to certain conditions, may otherwise deal with Sabre Holdings and Sabre Inc. and with any Owner Trustee and Owner Participant with the same rights it would have if it were not the Pass Through Trustee.

The Pass Through Trustee may also be the Indenture Trustee of any Indenture under which the Mortgage Notes are issued.

The Pass Through Trustee may resign with respect to any or all of the Pass Through Trusts at any time, in which event Sabre Inc. will be obligated to appoint a successor trustee. We may remove a Pass Through Trustee if:

the Pass Through Trustee ceases to be eligible to continue as Pass Through Trustee with respect to a Pass Through Trust,

becomes incapable of acting as Pass Through Trustee, or

becomes insolvent.

-18-

In addition, upon the occurrence of any of these events, any person who has been a holder of Pass Through Certificates of a Pass Through Trust for at least six months may, on behalf of such person and all others similarly situated, petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the removal of the Pass Through Trustee for that Pass Through Trust and the appointment of a successor trustee.

Any resignation or removal of the Pass Through Trustee with respect to a Pass Through Trust and appointment of a successor trustee for such Pass Through Trust does not become effective until acceptance of the appointment by the successor trustee. Pursuant to such resignation and successor trustee provisions, it is possible that a different trustee could be appointed to act as the successor trustee with respect to each Pass Through Trust. All references in this prospectus to the Pass Through Trustee are to the trustee acting in such capacity under each of the Pass Through Trusts and should be read to take into account the possibility that each of the Pass Through Trusts could have a different trustee.

The Pass Through Trustee's fees and expenses and indemnify the Pass Through Trustee's fees and expenses and indemnify the Pass Through Trustee against certain liabilities. In specified circumstances, the Pass Through Trustee will have a priority claim on the related Pass Through Trust Property to the extent such fees, expenses or indemnities are not paid.

#### DESCRIPTION OF THE MORTGAGE NOTES

The following description is a summary of the material terms that we expect will be common to all Mortgage Notes. Most of the financial terms and other specific terms of any series of Mortgage Notes will be described in a prospectus supplement. Additional provisions with respect

to the Mortgage Notes and the associated Lease transactions will be described in a prospectus supplement. Since the terms of the specific Mortgage Notes and other documents may differ from the general information provided below, you should rely on the prospectus supplement information instead of the information in a prospectus if the information in a prospectus supplement is different from the information below.

Because the following description is a summary, it does not describe every aspect of the Mortgage Notes, and it is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to all of the provisions of the applicable Mortgage Notes, Indentures, Leases, Participation Agreements, trust agreements, intercreditor and subordination agreements, liquidity facilities or other credit enhancement arrangements and other agreements and arrangements relating to any series of Mortgage Notes.

#### General

The Mortgage Notes will be issued under one or more Indentures between an Indenture Trustee and the Owner Trustee of a trust for the benefit of the Owner Participant who is the beneficial owner of one or more Properties.

The Mortgage Notes will be non-recourse obligations of the Owner Trustee. All of the Mortgage Notes issued under the same Indenture will relate to and will be secured by one or more specific Properties and, unless otherwise specified in a prospectus supplement, will not be secured by any other Property. In each case, the Owner Trustee will lease the related Property to Sabre Inc. pursuant to a separate Lease between such Owner Trustee and Sabre Inc.

Mortgage Notes may be issued pursuant to delayed leasing arrangements, where the Owner Trustee may issue Mortgage Notes prior to the purchase of the related Property by such Owner Trustee or the commencement or assignment and assumption of any related Leases. A prospectus supplement will describe any such delayed leasing arrangements, including any arrangements for the collateralization of any such Mortgage Notes with cash, permitted investments or other property, and any depositary or escrow arrangement pursuant to which the proceeds from the sale of such Mortgage Notes will be deposited with a third party depositary or escrow agent.

-19-

If the anticipated leasing transactions have not been completed as described in a prospectus supplement, such Mortgage Notes will be prepaid at the price specified in a prospectus supplement. Alternatively, if so specified in a prospectus supplement, Sabre Inc. at its option may convert the proposed leveraged lease financing into a type of financing available for owned property.

Upon the commencement of a Lease, Sabre Inc. will be obligated to make or cause to be made rental payments under such Lease that will be sufficient to pay the principal of and accrued interest on the related Mortgage Notes when due. The Mortgage Notes will not be direct obligations of, or guaranteed by, Sabre Inc.'s rental obligations under each Lease, however, will be general obligations of Sabre Inc.

A prospectus supplement will describe any special financing or refinancing arrangements with respect to any Property, including whether a separate trust or other entity will issue notes secured by Mortgage Notes.

## **Principal and Interest Payments**

Interest received by the Pass Through Trustee on the Mortgage Notes held in each Pass Through Trust will be passed through to the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust on the dates and at the rate per annum set forth in a prospectus supplement until the final distribution date for such Pass Through Trust. The Mortgage Notes may bear interest at a fixed or a floating rate and may be issued at a discount. Principal payments received by the Pass Through Trustee on the Mortgage Notes held in each Pass Through Trust will be passed through to the Certificateholders of such Pass Through Trust in scheduled amounts on the dates set forth in a prospectus supplement until the final distribution date for such Pass Through Trust. Payments on the Mortgage Notes, and distributions to Certificateholders, may be subject to the terms of any intercreditor, subordination or similar agreement or arrangement.

If any date scheduled for any payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Mortgage Notes is not a business day, such payment may be made on the next succeeding business day without any additional interest, unless otherwise provided in a prospectus supplement.

## Redemption

A prospectus supplement will describe the circumstances, whether voluntary or involuntary, under which the related Mortgage Notes will or may be redeemed or purchased prior to their stated maturity, whether in whole or in part, the premium, if any, applicable to certain

redemptions or purchases and other terms applying to redemptions or purchases.

### Security

The Mortgage Notes will be secured by:

an assignment by the related Owner Trustee to the related Indenture Trustee of such Owner Trustee's rights, except for specified limited rights, including those described below, under any Lease with respect to the related Property, including the right to receive payments of rent; and

a first mortgage and security interest granted by such Owner Trustee to such Indenture Trustee in such Property, subject to the rights of Sabre Inc. under any Lease, and other property or rights, if any, described in a prospectus supplement.

Unless and until an Indenture Event of Default with respect to a Property has occurred and is continuing, the Indenture Trustee may exercise only limited rights of the Owner Trustee under a Lease.

-20-

The assignment by the Owner Trustee to the Indenture Trustee of its rights under a Lease will exclude, among other things:

rights of such Owner Trustee and the related Owner Participant relating to indemnification by Sabre Inc. for certain matters;

insurance proceeds payable to such Owner Trustee in its individual capacity and to such Owner Participant under liability insurance maintained by Sabre Inc. under such Lease or by such Owner Trustee or such Owner Participant;

insurance proceeds payable to such Owner Trustee in its individual capacity or to such Owner Participant under certain casualty insurance maintained by such Owner Trustee or such Owner Participant;

any rights of such Owner Participant or such Owner Trustee to enforce payment of the foregoing amounts; and

certain reimbursement payments made by Sabre Inc. to such Owner Trustee.

A prospectus supplement will describe the required insurance coverage with respect to each Property. Sabre Inc.'s obligations in respect of each Property will be those of a lessee under a "net lease." Accordingly, Sabre Inc. will be obligated, among other things, to pay all costs of operating and maintaining such Property.

Unless otherwise specified in a prospectus supplement, the Mortgage Notes may not be cross-collateralized and consequently the Mortgage Notes issued in respect of any one Property may not be secured by any other Property or other security, including a Lease related to other Property.

Funds, if any, held from time to time by the Indenture Trustee with respect to any Property, including funds held as the result of an event of loss with respect to such Property or a termination of a Lease, will be invested and reinvested by such Indenture Trustee, at the direction of Sabre Inc., except in the case of a Lease Event of Default under an applicable Lease, in investments described in the related Indenture. Sabre Inc. will pay the amount of any net loss resulting from any such investment directed by it.

### Consequences of Sabre Inc.'s Bankruptcy

In the event a bankruptcy proceeding is instituted by or against Sabre Inc. under Title 11 of the United States Code (the "Bankruptcy Code"), Sabre Inc. or its bankruptcy trustee could seek to reject any or all of the outstanding Leases. If the bankruptcy court treated any such Lease as a true lease and authorized its rejection, the rejection of the Lease would constitute a breach of such Lease. If the bankruptcy court

authorized modification of the automatic stay imposed by Section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code, the Owner Trustee could exercise remedies under applicable non-bankruptcy law to deprive Sabre Inc. of the use of the Property. If any Lease were rejected, payments thereunder would terminate, thereby leaving the Owner Trustee and Indenture Trustee without regular rent payments and with a claim for damages to pay amounts due under the Mortgage Notes issued in respect of the related Property. There can be no assurance that any such claim for damages would be sufficient to provide for the repayment of the Mortgage Notes issued under the Indenture related to such Lease. Under Section 502(b)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code, a claim by a lessor for damages resulting from the rejection by a debtor of a lease of real property is limited to an amount equal to the rent reserved under such Lease, without acceleration, for the greater of one year or the next 15 percent of the remaining term of the Lease, not to exceed three years, plus rent already due but unpaid. Regardless of any limitations on damages pursuant to Section 502(b)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code, if the bankruptcy court treated any such Lease as a true lease, authorized its rejection and modified the automatic stay, the Indenture Trustee could also realize upon its lien on and security interest in the related Property,

-21-

which would not be affected by such rejection, to recover any additional unpaid amounts on the Mortgage Notes. If the Bankruptcy Court treated any such Lease as a financing lease, the amount owed by Sabre Inc. would be secured by the lien and security interest in favor of the Indenture Trustee. Sabre Inc. would be permitted to continue to use the Property so long as Sabre Inc. made adequate protection payments and provided the Indenture Trustee with payments with a present value equal to the lesser of the amount of the Mortgage Notes or the value of the Property.

#### **Payments and Limitation of Liability**

Each Property will be leased by the related Owner Trustee to Sabre Inc. for a term expiring on a date not earlier than the latest maturity date of the Mortgage Notes issued with respect to such Property, unless previously terminated as permitted by the terms of the related Lease. The basic rent and certain other payments by Sabre Inc. under each such Lease will be assigned by the Owner Trustee under the related Indenture to the related Indenture Trustee to provide the funds necessary to pay principal of, premium on and interest due from such Owner Trustee on the Mortgage Notes issued under such Indenture. In certain cases, the rent and other mandatory payments under a Lease may be adjusted, but each Lease will provide that under no circumstances will rent and other mandatory payments by Sabre Inc. be less than the scheduled payments of principal and interest on the related Mortgage Notes. The balance of any basic rent payments under each Lease, after payment of amounts due on the Mortgage Notes issued under the Indenture relating to such Lease, will be paid over to the related Owner Trustee. Sabre Inc.'s obligation to pay rent and to cause other payments to be made under each Lease will be general obligations of Sabre Inc.

Unless Sabre Inc. purchases a Property and assumes the Mortgage Notes related thereto, the Mortgage Notes will not be obligations of, or guaranteed by, Sabre Inc. Neither the Owner Trustee nor the Owner Participant nor the Indenture Trustee will be personally liable to any holder of any Mortgage Notes for any amounts payable thereunder, or, except as provided in the Indenture relating thereto in the case of the Owner Trustee and the Indenture Trustee, for any liability under such Indenture. Except when Sabre Inc. has assumed any Mortgage Notes, all amounts payable under any Mortgage Notes, other than payments made in connection with an optional redemption or purchase of Mortgage Notes by the related Owner Trustee or the related Owner Participant, will be made only from the assets subject to the lien of the Indenture with respect to such Property and their proceeds, including rent payable by Sabre Inc. under the Lease with respect to such Property, or from any applicable liquidity facility or other credit enhancement arrangement.

## Defeasance of the Indentures and the Mortgage Notes in Certain Circumstances

Unless otherwise specified in a prospectus supplement, the obligations under an Indenture of the related Owner Trustee will be deemed to have been discharged, except for certain obligations, including the obligations to register the transfer or exchange of Mortgage Notes, to replace stolen, lost, destroyed or mutilated Mortgage Notes and to maintain paying agencies and hold money for payment in trust, on the date of irrevocable deposit with the related Indenture Trustee of money or certain obligations of the United States or any agency or instrumentality thereof the payment of which is backed by the full faith and credit of the United States which, through the payment of principal and interest in respect thereof in accordance with their terms, will provide money in an aggregate amount sufficient to pay when due (including as a consequence of redemption in respect of which notice is given on or prior to the date of such deposit) principal of, premium, if any, and interest on all Mortgage Notes issued thereunder in accordance with the terms of such Indenture. Such discharge may occur only if, among other things, there has been a change in federal tax law as in effect on the date of this prospectus or there has been published by the Internal Revenue Service a ruling to the effect that holders of such Mortgage Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of such deposit, defeasance and discharge and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amounts

and in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such deposit, defeasance and discharge had not occurred.

Upon such defeasance, or upon payment in full of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on all Mortgage Notes issued under any Indenture on the maturity date therefor or deposit with the applicable Indenture Trustee of money sufficient therefor, the holders of such Mortgage Notes will have no beneficial interest in or other rights with respect to the related Property or other assets subject to the lien of such Indenture and such lien will terminate.

## Assumption of Obligations by Sabre Inc.

If specified in a prospectus supplement with respect to any Property, Sabre Inc. may purchase such Property prior to the end of a term of the related Lease and, in connection with such purchase, may assume on a full recourse basis all of the obligations of the Owner Trustee, other than its obligations in its individual capacity, under the Indenture with respect to such Property, including the obligation to make payments in respect of the related Mortgage Notes. In such event, certain relevant provisions of the related Lease, including, among others, provisions relating to maintenance, possession and use of the related Property, liens, insurance and events of default will be incorporated into such Indenture, and the Mortgage Notes issued under such Indenture will continue to be outstanding and secured by such Property. The terms and conditions of any such assumption will be described in a prospectus supplement.

#### **Owner Participant; Revisions to Agreements**

If specified in a prospectus supplement, at the time Pass Through Certificates are issued, Sabre Inc. may still be seeking Owner Participants with respect to the trusts relating to certain of the Properties. Sabre Inc. or an affiliate will hold the beneficial interest under the trust agreement relating to each such Property until the date upon which a prospective Owner Participant commits to participate in the purchase price of such Property. Any outside limit on such date will be specified in a prospectus supplement. Sabre Inc. or its affiliate will transfer to such Owner Participant on such date Sabre Inc.'s or such affiliate's beneficial interest under such Trust Agreement. Such prospective Owner Participants may request revisions to the Participation Agreement, Lease, Trust Agreement and Indenture so that the terms of such agreements applicable to the Property may differ from the description of such agreements contained in a prospectus supplement. A prospectus supplement will describe the extent to which such terms can be varied at the request of prospective Owner Participants.

#### **CREDIT ENHANCEMENTS**

## Ranking; Cross-Subordination

Some of the Mortgage Notes related to a specific Property may be subordinated and junior in right of payment to other Mortgage Notes or other debt related to the same Property. In such event, a prospectus supplement will describe the terms of such subordination, including the priority of distributions among such classes of Mortgage Notes, the ability of each such class of Mortgage Notes to exercise remedies with respect to the relevant Property and the Leases and certain other intercreditor terms and provisions.

The Mortgage Notes issued under an Indenture may be held in more than one Pass Through Trust, and a Pass Through Trust may hold Mortgage Notes issued under more than one Indenture. Unless otherwise described in a prospectus supplement, however, only Mortgage Notes having the same priority of payment may be held in the same Pass Through Trust. A Pass Through Trust that holds Mortgage Notes that are junior in payment priority to the Mortgage Notes held in another related Pass Through Trust formed as part of the same offering of Pass Through Certificates as a practical matter will be subordinated to such latter Pass Through Trust. In addition, the Pass Through Trustee on behalf

-23-

of one or more Pass Through Trusts may enter into an intercreditor or subordination agreement that establishes priorities among series of Pass Through Certificates or provides that distributions on the Pass Through Certificates will be made to the Certificateholders of a certain Pass Through Trust or Pass Through Trusts before they are made to the Certificateholders of one or more other Pass Through Trusts. For example, such an agreement may provide that payments made to a Pass Through Trust on account of a subordinate class of Mortgage Notes issued under one Indenture may be subordinated to the prior payment of all amounts owing to Certificateholders of a Pass Through Trust that holds senior Mortgage Notes issued under that Indenture or any related Indentures.

A prospectus supplement will describe any such intercreditor or subordination agreement or arrangements and the relevant cross-subordination provisions. Such description will specify the percentage of Certificateholders under any Pass Through Trust that is required in order to:

grant waivers of defaults under any related Indenture,

consent to the amendment or modification of any related Indenture, or

direct the exercise of remedies under any related Indenture.

Payments made on account of the Pass Through Certificates of a particular series also may be subordinated to the rights of the provider of any "Liquidity Facility" described below.

#### **Liquidity Facility**

A prospectus supplement may provide that a "Liquidity Facility" will support, insure or guarantee one or more payments of principal, premium, if any, or interest on the Mortgage Notes of one or more series, or one or more distributions in respect of the Pass Through Certificates of one or more series. A Liquidity Facility may include a letter of credit, a bank guarantee, a revolving credit agreement, an insurance policy, surety bond or financial guarantee, or any other type of agreement or arrangement for the provision of insurance, a guarantee or other credit enhancement or liquidity support. In addition, if any Mortgage Notes bear interest at a floating rate, there may be a cap or swap agreement or other arrangement in case the interest rate becomes higher than is covered by the Liquidity Facility. The institution or institutions providing any Liquidity Facility will be identified in a prospectus supplement. Unless otherwise provided in a prospectus supplement, the provider of any Liquidity Facility will have a senior claim on the assets securing the related Mortgage Notes and on the Pass Through Trust Property of the related Pass Through Trusts.

### **Guarantee of Sabre Holdings Corporation**

Our parent, Sabre Holdings Corporation, will guarantee fully and unconditionally the full and prompt payment of any or all amounts payable by us under the related Leases when and as such amounts become due and payable. We will describe the terms of the guarantee in a prospectus supplement. Unless we tell you otherwise in a prospectus supplement, such guarantee will be enforceable without any need first to enforce any related Lease against Sabre Inc., and will be an unsecured obligation of Sabre Holdings.

## ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

In this prospectus, we refer to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, as ERISA. If you intend to use plan assets (as discussed below) to purchase Pass Through Certificates, you should consult your counsel about the potential consequences of such investment under the fiduciary responsibility provisions of ERISA and the prohibited transactions provisions of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code").

-24-

For the purposes of this discussion, we refer to employee benefit plans, certain other retirement plans and arrangements, including individual retirement accounts and annuities, and any entity holding the assets of any such plan, account, or annuity, such as a bank common investment fund or an insurance company general or separate account, as "plans." Generally, a person who exercises discretionary authority or control over the assets of a plan will be considered a fiduciary of the plan under ERISA. Before investing in a Pass Through Certificate, a plan fiduciary should determine whether such investment is permitted under the plan documents and the instruments governing the plan, is appropriate for the plan in view of its overall investment policy and the composition and diversification of its portfolio and is permissible under applicable law. In making this determination, the plan fiduciary should take into account the limited liquidity of the Pass Through Certificates.

ERISA and the Code prohibit a wide range of transactions involving the plan assets and persons who have certain specified relationships to the plan such as "parties in interest" within the meaning of ERISA or "disqualified persons" within the meaning of the Code. Thus, a plan fiduciary considering an investment in the Pass Through Certificates should also determine whether such investment might constitute or give rise to a non-exempt prohibited transaction under ERISA or the Code. Further, an investment in the Pass Through Certificates by a plan might result in the Mortgage Notes of the related Pass Through Trust being deemed to constitute "plan assets." In such case, the operation of the Pass Through Trust might give rise to one or more non-exempt prohibited transactions under ERISA or the Code. Moreover, the plan fiduciary might be deemed to have improperly delegated its investment management responsibilities with respect to those assets of the Pass Through Trust deemed to be plan assets to the Pass Through Trustee.

Neither ERISA nor the Code provides a comprehensive definition of the term "plan assets." According to Section 2510.3-101 of the United States Department of Labor regulations, in general, when a plan acquires an equity interest in an entity and such interest does not represent a "publicly offered security" or a security issued by an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, the plan's assets include both the equity interest and the undivided interest in each of the underlying assets of the entity, unless it is established that either the entity is an "operating company" or the plan's, together with all other plans described below, equity participation in the entity is not "significant."

In general, the DOL regulations define an "equity interest" as any interest in an entity other than an instrument that is treated as indebtedness under applicable local law and that has no substantial equity features.

A plan's participation in the Pass Through Certificates would not be "significant" if, immediately after the most recent acquisition of the Pass Through Certificates, less than 25% of the value of the Pass Through Certificates is held by the plan, other ERISA employee benefit plans (whether or not subject to Title I of ERISA), Code Section 4975(e)(1) "plans", which include IRAs and Keogh plans, and certain entities whose underlying assets include plan assets by reason of a plan's investment in the entity, all as determined under the DOL regulations. If the participation is not "significant," the plan assets would not include the undivided interest in each of the underlying assets of the entity.

Ownership of the Pass Through Certificates will not be restricted or monitored. ERISA plans, certain other plans not subject to ERISA, IRAs and Keogh plans, and certain other entities, which we refer to collectively as benefit plan investors may hold 25% or more of the Pass Through Certificates during the term of the Pass Through Certificates. Accordingly, under the DOL regulations, a plan investment in the Pass Through Certificates during the period such aggregate benefit plan investor holdings equal or exceed 25% would, in effect, be considered an investment in the corresponding Mortgage Notes and an ongoing loan to the Owner Trustee for purposes of the fiduciary responsibility provisions of ERISA and the prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and the Code. Therefore, if any of the assets of a Pass Through Trust are considered plan assets, a plan's investment in the Pass

-25-

Through Certificates could result in a prohibited transaction or an impermissible delegation of authority.

Further, one or more of the initial purchasers, the Pass Through Trustee, we or any of our respective affiliates may be a party in interest or a disqualified person with respect to the plan acquiring, holding or disposing of the Pass Through Certificates. In such case, acquisition, holding or disposition of the Pass Through Certificates could give rise to a direct or indirect prohibited transaction, regardless of whether the assets of a Pass Through Trust are considered plan assets.

A prohibited transaction may be exempt under ERISA and the Code if the Pass Through Certificates were acquired, held or disposed of in accordance with one or more statutory or administrative exemptions. Among the administrative Prohibited Transaction Class Exemptions or "PTCEs":

PTCE 75-1 exempts certain transactions involving employee benefit plans and registered broker-dealers and certain reporting dealers and banks;

PTCE 84-14 exempts certain transactions involving an independent qualified professional asset manager;

PTCE 90-1 exempts certain transactions involving insurance company pooled separate accounts;

PTCE 91-38 exempts certain transactions involving bank collective investment funds;

PTCE 95-60 exempts certain transactions involving insurance company general accounts; and

PTCE 96-23 exempts certain transactions involving a qualified in-house asset manager.

Some of the exemptions, however, do not afford relief from the prohibitions on self-dealing contained in Section 406(b) of ERISA and Section 4975(c)(1)(E)-(F) of the Code. In addition, there can be no assurance that any of these administrative exemptions will be available with respect to any particular transaction involving the Pass Through Certificates. Thus, a plan fiduciary considering an investment in the Pass Through Certificates should consider whether the acquisition, the continued holding, or the disposition might constitute or give rise to a non-exempt prohibited transaction.

ERISA also prohibits a plan fiduciary from maintaining the indicia of ownership of any plan assets outside the jurisdiction of the district courts of the United States, except under certain circumstances. Before investing in a Pass Through Certificate, a plan fiduciary should consider whether its acquisition, holding or disposition of a Pass Through Certificate would satisfy such indicia of ownership rules.

Each person who acquires or accepts a Pass Through Certificate will be deemed by such acquisition or acceptance to have represented and warranted that either (i) no plan assets have been used to acquire such Pass Through Certificate; or (ii) the acquisition and holding of such Pass Through Certificate do not constitute a prohibited transaction under ERISA and the Code or are exempt from the prohibited transaction restrictions of ERISA and the Code according to one or more Prohibited Transaction Class Exemptions.

A plan fiduciary and each fiduciary for a governmental or church plan subject to rules similar to those imposed on plans under ERISA considering the purchase of Pass Through Certificates should consult its tax and/or legal advisors regarding the circumstances under which the assets of a Pass Through Trust would be considered plan assets, the availability, if any, of exemptions from any potential prohibited transaction and other fiduciary issues and their potential consequences.

-26-

#### PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Any of the securities being offered by this prospectus may be sold:

through agents,

to or through underwriters,

through dealers,

directly by us to purchasers, through a specific bidding, auction or other process; or

through a combination of any such methods of sale.

The distribution of securities may be effected from time to time in one or more transactions at a fixed price, or prices which may be changed, or at market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices or at negotiated prices.

Agents designated by us from time to time may solicit offers to purchase the securities. We will name any such agent involved in the offer or sale of the securities and set forth any commissions payable by us to such agent in a prospectus supplement. Unless otherwise indicated in a prospectus supplement, any such agent will be acting on a best efforts basis for the period of its appointment. Any such agent may be deemed to be an underwriter, as that term is defined in the Securities Act, of the securities.

If an underwriters are utilized in the sale of securities, we will execute an underwriting agreement with such underwriter or underwriters at the time an agreement for such sale is reached. We will set forth in the prospectus supplement the names of the specific managing underwriter or underwriters, as well as any other underwriters, and the terms of the transactions, including compensation of the underwriters and dealers. Such compensation may be in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions. Underwriters and others participating in any offering of securities may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of such securities. We will describe any such activities in a prospectus supplement.

If a dealer is utilized in the sale of the securities, we or an underwriter will sell such securities to the dealer, as principal. The dealer may then resell such securities to the public at varying prices to be determined by such dealer at the time of resale. The prospectus supplement will set forth the name of the dealer and the terms of the transactions.

We may directly solicit offers to purchase the securities, and we may sell directly to institutional investors or others. These persons may be deemed to be underwriters within the meaning of the Securities Act with respect to any resale of the securities. A prospectus supplement will describe the terms of any such sales, including the terms of any bidding or auction process, if utilized.

Agents, underwriters and dealers may be entitled under agreements which may be entered into with us to indemnification by us against specified liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or to contribution by us to payments they may be required to make in respect of such liabilities. A prospectus supplement will describe the terms and conditions of such indemnification or contribution. Some of the agents, underwriters or dealers, or their affiliates may be customers of ours, or engage in transactions with or perform services for us and our subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business.

-27-

#### LEGAL MATTERS

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP has rendered an opinion with respect to the validity of the securities being offered by this prospectus. We filed the opinion as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. If counsel for any underwriters passes on legal matters in connection with an offering made by this prospectus, we will name that counsel in the prospectus supplement relating to that offering.

### **EXPERTS**

The consolidated financial statements of Sabre Holdings Corporation, appearing in Sabre Holdings Corporation's Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2001, have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, as set forth in their report thereon included therein and incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated financial statements are incorporated herein by reference in reliance upon such report given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

## WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Sabre Holdings Corporation files annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. You may read and copy this information at the following location of the Commission:

Judiciary Plaza, Room 10024 450 Fifth Street, N.W Washington, D.C. 20549

You can also obtain copies of this information by mail from the Public Reference Room of the Commission, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Room 10024, Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed rates. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the Commission at (800) SEC-0330.

The Commission also maintains an internet world wide web site that contains reports, proxy statements and other information about issuers, like us, who file electronically with the Commission. The address of that site is www.sec.gov.

You can also inspect reports, proxy statements and other information about us at the offices of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005.

Sabre Holdings Corporation and Sabre Inc., along with other co-registrants, have filed jointly with the Commission a registration statement on Form S-3 that registers, among other securities, the securities we may offer by this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement. The registration statement, including the attached exhibits and schedules, contains additional relevant information about us and the securities to be offered. The rules and regulations of the Commission allow us to omit certain information included in the registration statement from this prospectus.

#### INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

The Commission allows us to "incorporate by reference" information into this prospectus. This means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with the Commission. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus, except for any information that is superseded by information that is included directly in this or another document.

This prospectus includes by reference the documents listed below that we have previously filed with the Commission and that are not included in or delivered with this document. They contain important information about our company and its financial condition.

FILING	PERIOD
Annual Report on Form 10-K	Year ended December 31, 2001
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q	Quarter ended March 31, 2002 Quarter ended June 30, 2002
Current Reports on Form 8-K	Filed March 26, 2002 Filed April 8, 2002 Filed April 22, 2002

We incorporate by reference additional documents that we may file with the Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(d), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 between the date of this prospectus and the date of the closing of each offering, including all such documents we may file with the Commission after the date of the initial registration statement and prior to effectiveness of the registration statement. These documents include reports, such as Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K (other than filings under Item 9), as well as proxy statements.

You can obtain any of the documents incorporated by reference in this document from us without charge, excluding any exhibits to those documents unless the exhibit is specifically incorporated by reference in this prospectus. You can obtain documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus by requesting them in writing or by telephone from us at the following address:

Corporate Secretary Sabre Holdings Corporation 3150 Sabre Ave. Southlake, Texas 76092 (682) 605-1000

We have not authorized anyone to give any information or make any representation about us that is different from, or in addition to, that contained in this prospectus, in any related prospectus supplement or in any of the materials that we have incorporated by reference into this document. Therefore, if anyone does give you information of this sort, you should not rely on it. If you are in a jurisdiction where offers to sell, or solicitations of offers to purchase, the securities offered by this document are unlawful, or if you are a person to whom it is unlawful to direct these types of activities, then the offer presented in this document does not extend to you. The information contained in this document speaks only as of the date of this document, unless the information specifically indicates that another date applies.

-29-

#### **PART II**

## INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 14. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.\*

Securities and Exchange Commission registration fee

92,000

Blue Sky fees and expenses	1,500
Printing and engraving fees and expenses	150,000
Trustees' fees and expenses	25,000
Rating agency fees	1,000,000
Accountants' fees and expenses	200,000
Legal fees and expenses	240,000
Miscellaneous	300,000
Total	\$ 2,008,500*

All fees and expenses will be paid by the Company. All fees and expenses other than the Securities and Exchange Commission filing fees are estimated.

## Item 15. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

The registrant's bylaws provide that the registrant will indemnify any person who was or is a party, or is threatened to be made a party, to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, by reason of the fact that he or she is or was or has agreed to serve at the request of the registrant as a director or officer of the registrant, or is or was serving or has agreed to serve at the request of the registrant as a director or officer of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such capacity. The registrant's bylaws further provide that the registrant may indemnify any person who was or is a party, or is threatened to be made a party, to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, by reason of the fact that he or she is or was or has agreed to become an employee or agent of the registrant, or is or was serving or has agreed to serve at the request of the registrant as an employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such capacity.

The indemnification referred to in the preceding paragraph will be from and against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by the indemnitee or on his or her behalf in connection with such action, suit or proceeding and any appeal therefrom. However, such indemnification will only be provided if the indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the registrant and, with respect to any criminal action, suit or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. Notwithstanding the preceding two sentences, in the case of an action or suit by or in the right of the registrant to procure a judgment in its favor (a) the indemnification referred to in this paragraph will be limited to expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in the defense or settlement of such action or suit, and (b) no indemnification will be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person will have been adjudged to be liable to the registrant unless, and only to the extent that, the Delaware Court of Chancery, or the court in which such action or suit was brought, determines upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Delaware Court of Chancery, or such other court, deems proper. To the extent that a director, officer, employee or agent of the registrant has been successful on the merits or otherwise in

II-1

defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to above or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, he or she will be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in connection therewith. Expenses incurred by a director or officer in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding will be paid by the registrant in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the director or officer to repay such amount if it will ultimately be determined that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified by the registrant. Such expenses incurred by other employees and agents may be so paid upon such terms and conditions, if any, as the registrant's Board of Directors deems appropriate.

The indemnification described in the preceding two paragraphs will not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those indemnified may be entitled under any bylaw of the registrant, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in his or her official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, will continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent and will inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person. The registrant will purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was or has agreed to serve at the request of the registrant as a director or officer of the registrant, or is or was serving at the request of the registrant as a director or officer of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against, and incurred by, him or her or on his or her behalf in any such capacity, or

arising out of his or her status as such, whether or not the registrant would have the power to indemnify him or her against such liability under the provisions of the registrant's bylaws; provided, however, such insurance must be available on acceptable terms, which determination shall be made by a vote of a majority of the registrant's Board of Directors.

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law permits a corporation to indemnify its directors and officers against expenses (including attorney's fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by them in connection with any action, suit or proceeding brought by third parties, if such directors or officers acted in good faith and in a manner they reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe their conduct was unlawful. In a derivative action, i.e., one by or in the right of the corporation, indemnification may be made only for expenses actually and reasonably incurred by directors and officers in connection with the defense or settlement of an action or suit, and only with respect to a matter as to which they shall have acted in good faith and in a manner they reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, except that no indemnification shall be made if such person shall have been adjudged liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his respective duties to the corporation, although the court in which the action or suit was brought may determine upon application that the defendant officers or directors are fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses despite such adjudication of liability.

Section 102(b)(7) of the Delaware General Corporation Law provides that a corporation may eliminate or limit the personal liability of a director to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, provided that such provisions shall not eliminate or limit the liability of a director (1) for any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders, (2) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (3) under Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or (4) for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. No such provision shall eliminate or limit the liability of a director for any act or omission occurring before the date when such provision becomes effective.

Any underwriting agreement, which will be filed as Exhibit 1.1 hereto, will provide that the underwriters named therein will indemnify and hold harmless the registrant and each director, officer

II-2

or controlling person of the registrant from and against specific liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

The registrant also has obtained directors and officers liability insurance that provides insurance coverage for certain liabilities which may be incurred by the registrant's directors and officers in their capacity as such.

## Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Schedules.

(a)

**Exhibits:** 

Exhibit Number	Exhibits
1.1*	Form of Underwriting Agreement
4.1	Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of the registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000)
4.2	Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001)
4.3	Indenture, dated as of August 3, 2001, between the Registrant and SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to debt securities (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.6 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on August 7, 2001)
4.4	First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 7, 2001, between the Registrant and SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to 7.35% Notes due 2011 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.7 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on August 7, 2001)
4.5*	Form of Debt Securities Indenture (including form of notes and guarantees)
4.6*	Form of Trust Debt Securities Indenture (including form of notes)

Exhibit Number	Exhibits
4.7*	Form of Warrant Agreement (including form of warrant)
4.8	Certificate of Trust for SHC Capital Trust I
4.9	Certificate of Trust for SHC Capital Trust II
4.10	Certificate of Trust for SHC Capital Trust III
4.11	Trust Agreement for SHC Capital Trust I
4.12	Trust Agreement for SHC Capital Trust II
4.13	Trust Agreement for SHC Capital Trust III
4.14*	Form of Amended & Restated Trust Agreement for SHC Capital Trust I
4.15*	Form of Amended & Restated Trust Agreement for SHC Capital Trust II
4.16*	Form of Amended & Restated Trust Agreement for SHC Capital Trust III
4.17*	Form of Trust Preferred Security
4.18*	Form of Trust Guarantee Agreement
4.19*	Form of Stock Purchase Contract
4.20*	Form of Stock Purchase Unit Agreement
4.21*	Form of Unit Agreement
4.22	Specimen of Class A Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's
4.23*	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000)
4.23** 5.1	Form of Pass Through Trust Agreement for Sabre Inc. (including form of pass through certificates and guarantees) Opinion of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, Dallas, Texas, as to the validity of the securities being registered
5.2	Opinion of Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell, Wilmington, Delaware, as to the validity of the trust preferred securities being registered
	II-3
8.1*	Tax Opinion of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, Dallas, Texas
8.2*	Tax Opinion of special counsel to Pass Through Trustee
12.1	Statement of computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 12.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, Exhibit 12.1 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, and Exhibit 12.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on August 7, 2001).
23.1	Consent of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, Dallas, Texas (See Exhibits 5.1 and 8.1)
23.2	Consent of Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell, Wilmington, Delaware (See Exhibit 5.2)
23.3*	Consent of special counsel to Pass Through Trustee (See Exhibit 8.2)
23.4	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Dallas, Texas
24.1	Powers of Attorney (See signature page of this registration statement)
25.1	Statement of eligibility of trustee on Form T-1 of SunTrust Bank relating to debt securities (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 25.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant's Registration Statement (No. 333-32106) on Form S-3, filed with the Commission on April 17, 2000)
25.2*	Statement of eligibility of trustee on Form T-1 for Trust Debt Securities
25.3*	Statement of eligibility of trustee on Form T-1 for Trust Agreements
25.4*	Statement of eligibility of trustee on Form T-1 for Pass Through Certificates

To be filed by amendment hereto or pursuant to a Current Report on Form 8-K to be incorporated herein by reference.

## Item 17. Undertakings.

(a) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant's annual report pursuant to section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to section 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(b) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions described in Item 15, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. If a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a

director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

(c) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

(1)

To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:

(i) To include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

II-4

(ii)

To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement; and

(iii)

To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;

Provided, however, that paragraphs (c)(1)(i) and (c)(1)(i) do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in periodic and current reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the registrant pursuant to section 13 or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement.

(2) That, for the purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(3)

To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

(d) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to file an application for the purpose of determining the eligibility of the trustee to act under subsection (a) of Section 310 of the Trust Indenture Act in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed by the Commission under Section 305(b)(2) of the Trust Indenture Act.

II-5

## SIGNATURES AND POWERS OF ATTORNEY

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant, Sabre Holdings Corporation, and the co-registrants named below, certify that they have reasonable grounds to believe that they meet all the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and have duly caused this registration statement to be signed on their behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Southlake, State of Texas, on September 5, 2002.

#### REGISTRANT

**Sabre Holdings Corporation** 

By:	/s/ JAMES F. BRASHEAR
	James F. Brashear Corporate Secretary
<u>CO-</u>	REGISTRANTS
Sabr	re Inc.
Ву:	/s/ JAMES F. BRASHEAR
	James F. Brashear Senior Vice President, Deputy General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
SHC	Capital Trust I Capital Trust II Capital Trust III
By:	Sabre Holdings Corporation, as Depositor
By:	/s/ JAMES F. BRASHEAR

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints each of Jeffery M. Jackson and James F. Brashear, individually, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this registration statement, including post-effective amendments, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto each such attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each such attorney-in-fact and agent, each acting alone, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

James F. Brashear Corporate Secretary II-6

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

## REGISTRANT OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ WILLIAM J. HANNIGAN	Chairman, President and Chief	
William J. Hannigan	Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)	September 5, 2002
/s/ JEFFERY M. JACKSON		

Signature	Title	Date
Jeffery M. Jackson	Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)	September 5, 2002
/s/ ROYCE S. CALDWELL		
Royce S. Caldwell /s/ DAVID W. DORMAN	Director	September 4, 2002
David W. Dorman /s/ PAUL C. ELY, JR.	Director	September 5, 2002
Paul C. Ely, Jr. /s/ GLENN W. MARSCHEL, JR.	Director	September 5, 2002
Glenn W. Marschel, Jr. /s/ BOB L. MARTIN	Director	September 5, 2002
Bob L. Martin /s/ PAMELA B. STROBEL	Director	September 5, 2002
Pamela B. Strobel /s/ MARY ALICE TAYLOR	Director	September 5, 2002
Mary Alice Taylor	Director	September 5, 2002
/s/ RICHARD L. THOMAS  Richard L. Thomas	Director	September 5, 2002

# CO-REGISTRANT OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

Sabre Inc.

Signature	Signature Title	
/s/ WILLIAM J. HANNIGAN  William J. Hannigan  /s/ JEFFERY M. JACKSON	Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)  Director, Executive Vice President and	September 5, 2002
Jeffery M. Jackson /s/ ERIC J. SPECK	Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)	September 5, 2002
Eric J. Speck	Director and Executive Vice President II-8	September 5, 2002
Sabre Holdings Corporation, as depositor of SHC Capital Trust I SHC Capital Trust II SHC Capital Trust III  Signature	Title	Date
/s/ WILLIAM J. HANNIGAN		
William J. Hannigan /s/ JEFFERY M. JACKSON	President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer); Director	September 5, 2002
		September 5, 2002 September 5, 2002
/s/ JEFFERY M. JACKSON  Jeffery M. Jackson	(Principal Executive Officer); Director  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Principal Financial and Accounting	
/s/ JEFFERY M. JACKSON  Jeffery M. Jackson  /s/ ROYCE S. CALDWELL  Royce S. Caldwell	(Principal Executive Officer); Director  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)	September 5, 2002

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ BOB L. MARTIN		
Bob L. Martin	Director	September 5, 2002
/s/ GLENN W. MARSCHEL, JR.  Glenn W. Marschel, Jr.	Director	September 5, 2002
/s/ PAMELA B. STROBEL		
Pamela B. Strobel	Director	September 5, 2002
/s/ MARY ALICE TAYLOR	Director	September 5, 2002
Mary Alice Taylor /s/ RICHARD L. THOMAS		
Richard L. Thomas	Director II-9	September 5, 2002

# EXHIBIT INDEX

(a) Exhibits:

Exhibit Number	Exhibits
1.1*	Form of Underwriting Agreement
4.1	Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of the registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit
4.2	3.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000) Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001)
4.3	Indenture, dated as of August 3, 2001, between the Registrant and SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to debt securities (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.6 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on August 7, 2001)
4.4	First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 7, 2001, between the Registrant and SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to 7.35% Notes due 2011 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.7 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on August 7, 2001)
4.5*	Form of Debt Securities Indenture (including form of notes and guarantees)
4.6*	Form of Trust Debt Securities Indenture (including form of notes)
4.7*	Form of Warrant Agreement (including form of warrant)
4.8	Certificate of Trust for SHC Capital Trust I
4.9	Certificate of Trust for SHC Capital Trust II
4.10	Certificate of Trust for SHC Capital Trust III

Exhibit Number	Exhibits
4.11	Trust Agreement for SHC Capital Trust I
4.12	Trust Agreement for SHC Capital Trust II
4.13	Trust Agreement for SHC Capital Trust III
4.14*	Form of Amended & Restated Trust Agreement for SHC Capital Trust I
4.15*	Form of Amended & Restated Trust Agreement for SHC Capital Trust II
4.16*	Form of Amended & Restated Trust Agreement for SHC Capital Trust III
4.17*	Form of Trust Preferred Security
4.18*	Form of Trust Guarantee Agreement
4.19*	Form of Stock Purchase Contract
4.20*	Form of Stock Purchase Unit Agreement
4.21*	Form of Unit Agreement
4.22	Specimen of Class A Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000)
4.23*	Form of Pass Through Trust Agreement for Sabre Inc. (including form of pass through certificates and guarantees)
5.1	Opinion of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, Dallas, Texas, as to the validity of the securities being registered
5.2	Opinion of Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell, Wilmington, Delaware, as to the validity of the trust preferred securities being registered
8.1*	Tax Opinion of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, Dallas, Texas
8.2*	Tax Opinion of special counsel to Pass Through Trustee
12.1	Statement of computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 12.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, Exhibit 12.1 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, and Exhibit 12.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on August 7, 2001).
23.1	Consent of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, Dallas, Texas (See Exhibits 5.1 and 8.1)
23.2	Consent of Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell, Wilmington, Delaware (See Exhibit 5.2)
23.3*	Consent of special counsel to Pass Through Trustee (See Exhibit 8.2)
23.4	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Dallas, Texas
24.1	Powers of Attorney (See signature page of this registration statement)
25.1	Statement of eligibility of trustee on Form T-1 of SunTrust Bank relating to debt securities (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 25.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant's Registration Statement (No. 333-32106) on Form S-3, filed with the Commission on April 17, 2000)
25.2*	Statement of eligibility of trustee on Form T-1 for Trust Debt Securities
25.3*	Statement of eligibility of trustee on Form T-1 for Trust Agreements
25.4*	Statement of eligibility of trustee on Form T-1 for Pass Through Certificates

To be filed by amendment hereto or pursuant to a Current Report on Form 8-K to be incorporated herein by reference.